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Tuesday, May 8, 2007


--- Upon commencing at 9:41 a.m. 


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  We are reconvening in the matter of application EB‑2006‑0501.  This is day 5 of the evidentiary portion of the hearing.  Today we will continue the cross‑examination of panel 3, the panel on shared and corporate services on OM&A and capital expenditures, and begin the examination of panel 4.  The first issue of examination for panel 4 will be the revenue requirement adjustment proposed by Hydro One.


Are there any preliminary matters?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, Madam Chairman.  I have taken the liberty of placing before the Board answers to undertakings in order to try and expedite the process, if that's all right.


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  It's a little confusing because of the way these are put together, so I would like to explain to you.  The first batch actually starts with Exhibit K, tab 3, schedule 1.  You will see it is stapled together and there are several interrogatories stapled together there in that one document.  


What we have filed this morning, taking that document first, is Exhibit K, tab 3, schedule 1.  The next page is Exhibit K, tab 3, schedule 2; next Exhibit K, tab 3, schedule 3, which is four pages; next, K, tab 3, schedule 4; K, tab 3, schedule 6; and K, tab 3, schedule 8.


Now, also with you there, you will find Exhibit K, tab 3, schedule 7, which is a three‑page document, a separate document.  Also provided is answer to Exhibit K, tab 4, schedule 4, a nine‑page document, which is the updated information from PA Consulting requested yesterday.  


Exhibit K, tab 4, schedule 6, presented to Hydro One employees in the Metro area, and Exhibit K, tab 4, schedule 7.  I hope you have all of those in your pile.


MS. NOWINA:  We do.


MR. ROGERS:  Those have been provided to Board Staff, and there are extra copies for the intervenors at the end of the table.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Those complete my preliminary comments.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Today, left for cross-examination of panel 3 are Mr. Long for the Society; Mr. Buonaguro, VECC; Ms. Girvan, CCC; and Mr. MacIntosh for Energy Probe.  Is that correct?  Anyone else?  Anyone wish to go first?  Someone will have to.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I can go first.


MS. NOWINA:  Oh, you're over there.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Nobody has told me to stop using it, so I will keep going until someone tells me to stop.


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.  You will have to wave at me or something.  


Fine, Mr. Buonaguro, you can go first.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 3, RESUMED


George Carleton, Previously Sworn


Judy McKellar, Previously Sworn


Sandy Struthers, Previously Sworn

Greg Van Duesen, Previously Sworn

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  My first set of questions relate to the pension costs, and I am looking at Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2 and I put it up on the screen.


MR. ROGERS:  I am going to ask that my witnesses be given a chance to get the hard copy so they can put this in context.  Mr. Buonaguro is very fair about this, but I just wish to be sure that they know the context.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.


MS. NOWINA:  Certainly.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm starting at the beginning of appendix A, and the pages aren't actually numbered from appendix A forward, so it is the first page of appendix A, which I think starts at page 10 of the exhibit.


MS. McKELLAR:  We have it.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I will go through with my questions and if you need to stop to read something, in particular, feel free.


Now, from this first page, we understand that Hydro One wasn't making any pension plan contributions in 2003; correct?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And over on the next page, which is page 2 of the appendix, this page describes how Hydro One Networks started making pension plan contributions in 2004; correct?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, moving over to the third page, starting at line 5 to line 9, this describes how the total pension contributions for Hydro One Networks in 2007 and 2008 are estimated to be $100 million and $102 million, respectively; if you can confirm that for me?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I can confirm that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thanks.  Now, if I am going back to the table on page 2 of that appendix, looking at the table, it appears that the total OM&A part of that budget is $24 million plus $2 million for a total of $26 million for OM&A related to pension contributions.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, and that's both for 2007 and 2008, as well.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, I am looking at ‑‑ I will move to another exhibit.  This is at C1, tab 2, schedule 1, and it's at page 2.  I think I mentioned I am looking at table 1.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, this table describes the budgets, the OM&A budgets for transmission, and divides it by sustaining, development, operations, shared services and taxes.


Could you tell me if the pension costs that are referred to - I guess it is the $26 million per year ‑ if that $26 million per year is embedded in the budgets for 2007 and 2008, and, if they are, where they are embedded?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  The amounts you refer to of the $24 million in each of 2007 and 2008 is spread across the work programs, the sustaining, development, operations and shared services category.  It gets spread across the work programs via payroll burdened rate.


So it's embedded across all of those work programs.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And can you tell me how much of the $26 million falls under each of those categories?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't have that breakdown with me.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you able to do it?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  We could, I guess, make a gross estimate of it.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I would be happy with an estimate, if you could give me that undertaking.


MR. ROGERS:  Can that be done within a reasonable time frame?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  A high-level estimate, yes, it could.


MS. LEA:  K5.1, please.  Please, if you could describe it.



MR. BUONAGURO:  So the undertaking is to give an estimate of how much of the pension costs, forecast to be $26 million for 2007 and 2008, are embedded in the various categories described on table 1, C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2 of 4.


UNDERTAKING NO. K5.1:  TO PROVIDE AN ESTIMATE OF HOW 

OF THE PENSION COSTS ARE EMBEDDED IN VARIOUS 

CATEGORIES IN TABLE 1 IN EXHIBIT C1, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 

1, PAGE 2 OF 4.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Understood.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you. 


Now, staying with this table and looking at the 2003 figures, I understand that obviously there is no pension costs embedded in that number; is that correct?  Or in those numbers, sorry. 


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.  We started the pension contribution in 2004.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  


I'm switching back to the first exhibit, which was C1, tab 3, schedule 2.  I'm looking at the unnumbered page 3 of the appendix.  I am pulling it up here so you can see on the screen.  


I'm looking at lines 11 to 13, where it says:  

"$100 million contributed in 2007 is comprised of $70 million in current service cost and $30 million in unfunded liability payments."  


Now, if I go back to page 2 of the same appendix, at lines 15 to 17, there is discussion of special payments to be made over 15 years required toward the going concern deficiency and commuted value top-ups.  


Now my question is:  Is the $30 million that I referred to on page 3 the same thing as the special payments over 15 years referred to on page 2?  Or are they something different?  


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I believe they are something different and I will take that subject to check.  I can check that on the break and get back to you.  


MR. BUONAGURO: All right.  So on the assumption that they're something different -- and I guess from your answer you're not 100 percent sure -- but if they are something different, can you quantify them and describe where they are captured in the cost of service, similar to the undertaking that I just took from you.  


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we could do that for you.  


MR. BUONAGURO: Great.  That will be, I guess, the second undertaking.  


MS. LEA:  K5.2, please.  


UNDERTAKING NO. K5.2:  assuming that the special 

payments referred to on page 2 of the appendix at C1, 

tab 3, schedule 2, lines 15 to 17 is different than 

the $30 million referred to on page 3, TO quantify the 

special payments and to describe where they Are 

captured in the cost of service


MR. BUONAGURO: And I guess the undertaking is assuming that the special payments referred to on page 2 of the appendix at C-1, tab 3, schedule 2, lines 15 to 17 is different than the $30 million referred to on page 3, to quantify the special payments and to describe where they're captured in the cost of service.  


MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Buonaguro, could I just ask for a clarification.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure. 


MR. RUPERT:  Page 2, as I understand it, is referring to payments that started in 2004 and were $81 million in total.   


Page 3, as I read it, was referring to contributions that are going to be in 2007.  So I just want to understand your question, as to are they the same or are they different.  They're different years.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess we felt there was some ambiguity, the witnesses said he believes them to be different but he's going to check because he's not 100 percent sure.  On the assumption they're different, we just want to find out where these special payments are captured in the cost of service.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay, thanks.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I would like to move on to a different topic, and to do that I am going to refer to Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule five.  This has to do with the change in methodology to the Rudden methodology.  


MR. ROGERS:  What page are you on, please, Mr. Buonaguro?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  It is page 3 of 84.  


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I have that.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  At lines 15 to 17, it just describes how for 2006 to 2008 you used the Rudden methodology.  And I believe you were asked to capture how the methodology changes the various figures that it applies to.  So my first question:  Looking at table 1 on that same page and the different categories, could you verify for me which of these categories are affected by the Rudden methodology?  


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I can.  The Rudden methodology was put in place for both the distribution and the transmission business, starting in 2006 onwards.  


So the 2006, 2007 and 2008 allocations between transmission and distribution and the other subsidiaries is governed by the Rudden methodology, as approved in the distribution hearing.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  But that is not quite my question.  If you look at the table, I understand the 2006, 2007 and 2008 are affected by the Rudden methodology.  But on the other axes, I am asking about the different description categories.  So common corporate functions and services, customer care, asset management and so on.  Which of these are affected by the Rudden methodology?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I apologize.  I misunderstood the question.  


The common corporate functions and services is impacted by the Rudden methodology.  Customer care is impacted by the Rudden methodology.  Asset management is impacted by the Rudden methodology.  Information management services is impacted by the Rudden methodology.  


The cost of sales is direct attribution, so it's directly charged to transmission or distribution.  And other shared services are partly, directly charged the transmission, distribution and partly governed by the Rudden methodology.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So everything except cost of sales and the last category, other shared services is partly affected by the Rudden methodology, that's how I understood that. 


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I am going to turn you to an interrogatory.  This is J1.43.  And if I can summarize the interrogatory.  It's a two-page interrogatory, so if you can't find it, I have the whole thing here and it is pretty easy to scroll through.  


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  Can we just wait until we get the document, please. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Certainly.  


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I have that.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, the interrogatory, part of the interrogatory asks you to, and I will quote: 

"Please provide an estimate of 2006, 2007 and 2008 OM&A costs, if the Rudden study recommendations were not implemented and pre-Rudden allocations were used."  


Going down to the answer, part of the answer, and this is the table that's found on page 2, you have provided an estimate of the impact on the corporate – sorry, the common corporate functions and services line.  But as far as we can tell, you haven't provided an impact, an estimate of the impact on the other lines, despite the fact that as we just discussed, there is an impact on almost all of the other lines.  


So I would ask you if you can provide a similar analysis for the rest of the lines on the previous table I referred you to, to isolate the impact of the Rudden methodology.  


MR. VAN DUSEN:  It actually isn't very easy to go back and do that type of analysis.  The analysis that we provided in this interrogatory response was a high-level analysis to give the Board a broad indication of the impact of moving to the Rudden methodology from the methodology utilized in 2005.  


You are correct in pointing out that this interrogatory response only looks at the CCF&S costs and doesn't look at the full range of costs, as we discussed earlier.  But this gives a high-level indication of the type of movement that was experienced by moving to the Rudden methodology.  


In general, you see that there is -- the cost allocated to transmission decrease somewhat. so there is a movement of costs from transmission to distribution by moving to the Rudden methodology.  That is generally, generally correct across all of the categories, but it is not actually easy to quantify that.


There are two different various approaches, and, once again, we took a very high-level approach to responding to this interrogatory that we thought would give the Board information at a high level, just to understand the overall impact.


MR. ROGERS:  I would also observe that issue 2.3 under the cost of services is a settled issue, dealing with the Rudden methodology.  I mean, if you're getting to the wages, I can see that is an open issue, but otherwise the methodology I think was settled.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm not questioning the methodology.  It is, rather, the impact of the methodology on other unsettled issues, and specifically, in this case, the earnings sharing mechanism.


Our view of the earnings sharing mechanism as it relates to this is that anything that is captured, the impact of the change in methodology would be treated differently from other portions that might be earnings shared.  In order to show what that impact is, we need to know how the methodology changed the dollar figures.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  There will be ‑‑ panel 4 will partly address that issue, but I think the impact on the earnings sharing mechanism is there is no impact, and the reason is the Rudden methodology was applied to transmission and distribution in 2006.


So there wasn't a shifting in 2006 from one area to the other.  The methodology, the same methodology was applied to all of the common costs, transmission and distribution.  So it is non‑impactive on the earnings sharing mechanism.  


My colleague, Mr. Innis, will be able to expand on that further, but there is no impact.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  I think we may be ‑‑ I think we may be at cross-purposes when we talk about impact.  My understanding is that you started to apply the Rudden methodology in 2006, which changed the allocation, right, and which means that there is an amount that is ‑‑ an amount of reduction and, therefore, savings which is attributable to the change in methodology with respect to transmission.


Our argument will be that whatever that impact is -- for example, for CCF&S, the decrease of $4 million, which would be part ‑‑ which would be factored into the earnings sharing mechanism should be treated differently than other amounts.  Instead of a 50/50 sharing, there would be 100 percent to the ratepayer, essentially.


 And in order for us to make that argument in the rest of the categories, we have to know what the impact of the change in methodology is on those other categories, which is why we asked the interrogatory.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  With all due respect, that is not the interpretation that you should be taking of the earnings sharing mechanism.  That is not what was discussed.  They talked about methodology in 2006.  The same methodology was used.  It is a non‑issue.


MR. ROGERS:  I won't agree to undertake to do this in view of the discussion.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry?


MR. ROGERS:  I say I won't agree to give you an undertaking to try to allocate these costs, in view of what I have heard, unless the Board feels it is important.


MS. NOWINA:  Just a moment, please.


[Board Panel confers]


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rogers, while not taking a position on Mr. Buonaguro's position, I think, in fairness, if your witness panel can, at best efforts, put together the numbers so he knows how material his proposition is, that that would be helpful.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Yes, they will do their best.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  K5.3.


UNDERTAKING NO. K5.3:  To quantify the reductions 

attributable to the change to the Rudden Methodology 

in 2006 for all areas of spending where there is an 

impact, similar to the quantification that was 

provided for the line item Common Corporate Functions 

and Services on page 2 of Exhibit JT1.S43

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I am moving on to a new topic and I am pulling up J1.41, which was discussed yesterday by Board Staff, and I have a couple of small questions on this one.


My understanding is that this entire analysis that is performed by Hay Management Consultants is based entirely on cash compensation; correct?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me if Hay did any analysis on total compensation, including, for example, benefits?


MS. McKELLAR:  No, they did not.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So we don't know how Hydro One compares to this group on total compensation?


MS. McKELLAR:  In terms of benefits, no, that was not part of the ‑‑ that was not part of the Hay data that we used.


MR. BUONAGURO:  When you say benefits, I meant that as an example.  If we took the total compensation package, there is no information on how they compared globally?


MS. McKELLAR:  No.  It was based on base salary and a short-term incentive program, only.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.


Now, I had some questions about OEB costs, but I was advised that I should hold those until panel 4.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, panel 4 is the panel that is designated to deal with the OEB costs, unless there is some ‑‑ I don't know what your questions are, but I think that is the panel that could probably deal with it.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, that's fine.


I would like to move on, then, to a new topic.  I am looking now at D1, tab 3, schedule 5.  This is page 28.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I have it.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, perhaps you can help me understand this a little bit more.  Can you tell me -- I am looking at the 2006 column of table 7 and it talks about $3 million in total real estate expenditures.  Can you give me an idea of how much of that was attributable to transmission?


MR. CARLETON:  If you give me a second, I can.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.  If you go back to table 1 in that same exhibit, which is page 1, table 1 indicates the transmission portion of total costs.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, great.


MR. CARLETON:  So $1.5 million is the TX portion of the real estate costs.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, I guess I can stick with this table, then.  I'm not going to flip back to table 7, but the spending more than doubles in 2008 for this category, and  that appears to follow through for table 1, specifically related to transmission, where it goes from 1.5 million in 2006 to 4 million and 4.2 million projected in 2007 and 2008.


Could you explain the specific requirements that account for this more than doubling?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, just specific to transmission, since we now have the transmission specific numbers.  


MR. CARLETON:  The explanation is generally similar, whether it is transmission or distribution, but in fact what we have is, we have inspectors who go around the province looking at our 130-odd facilities that we use, look at the needs for the assets, such as repairing roofs that are leaking, windows that are broken, doors, fencing, concrete, heating, ventilation, air-conditioning.  What we have identified are the asset replacement needs of those facilities.  We started to ramp up this program in 2004. During the labour disruption in 2005, that backed --significantly backed off and we have started ramping it up again in 2006 to address the deficiencies in all of these buildings.  


There is just a backlog of, in this case, aging facilities that need replacements to them.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.  Now I can move on to my last topic for this panel, and it has to do with the Cornerstone project and that is referred to in the material at D2, tab 2, schedule 3, under IT1 is the listing.  I can pull that up.  


Now, the version I am pulling up is the updated version and I don't have the original version handy, but perhaps you can take it subject to check.  Are you still pulling it up?  Sorry.  


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, where exactly are you?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, it is, the page numbers are not There.  On the PDF it is page 63 of 73 of that exhibit.  


MR. ROGERS:  D2, tab 2, schedule 3?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  


MS. NOWINA:  That's 71 pages, is that right, Mr. Buonaguro?  And there is a reference in the top corner, that might help. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, I don't think that's the problem.  Sorry, it is IT1, sorry, yes.  That reference.  There is no actual page numbering is the problem.  


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay, I am there, yes. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  The one I'm looking at on the screen is the updated version from February.  Now, the original project cost, as I understand it was $52.3 million and the spending was starting in 2006, and the project was projected for completion in mid 2009.  Is that consistent with the original evidence?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't have the original evidence in front of me, so...


MR. BUONAGURO:  Subject to check?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  Subject to check, I believe, if I am looking at the right document -- I think I am, yes -- there were costs in 2006, costs in 2007 and costs in 2008 related to this specific phase of the project.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, when you say you're looking at the document, are you looking at the updated or looking at the original. 


MR. STRUTHERS:  I'm looking at the June 2006, as well as the February 2007.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you explain what the basis for the original 2009 completion date was?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  The actual completion date for this particular phase would have been 2008, pursuant to the schedule.  I believe that document is talking about phases one and two. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay. 


MR. STRUTHERS:  Whereas in the revised material, we talk about phase one separately, phase two separately, phase 3 separately and phase four separately.  So the June document would have included the first two phases.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm afraid you have lost me.  My understanding is the total project was starting in 2006 and ending in around 2009.  From that misunderstanding, could you explain why that is not true?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.  I will redescribe the Cornerstone project.  


The project commenced in 2006.  It has four deliverable phases, the first phase is to be delivered Q2 of 2008.  The second phase is to be delivered in Q2, 2009.  The third phase is to be delivered in Q3, 2009, and the fourth phase is to be delivered in Q2, 2011.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So was it that the first filing only referred to phase 1 and 2, is that what I heard you say before?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe the documents, which were filed, refer to all of the phases.  The revised documentation, which has numbers in it, refers specifically to phase 1.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  


MR. STRUTHERS:  So IT1, February 2007, relates specifically to phase 1.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now how about the numbers?  My understanding of the original project was that it was $52.3 million and then the update -- I'm looking at the bottom of the table I pulled up on the screen with is the IT1 updated page, shows the total dollar value being $130 million.  Maybe you can explain why that is increased or why that is not an increase, it is actually a different phase or whatever the explanation is.  


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would be happy to.  First of all, I believe the 52 or I think it is 52 million is phase 1, and you are comparing that to $130 million.  So yes, there has been an increase. 


As I explained to Ms. Campbell yesterday, when we filed the original evidence in June 2006, we had received high-level estimates as to what it might cost to do this from three different sources.  Those numbers were varied across the board we took a midpoint for what those numbers might be.  They were used as a number that management could focus on to understand that this was a large project and required a significant capital, as well as business investment in order to do the project.  


We went through a RFP process to select a systems integrator, as well as an application.  Going through that process, we also designed into the process a design phase or, sorry, discovery phase.  Discovery phase was specifically there to identify what the scope was, the cost of what the project would be, and to be able to better understand exactly what we were getting so we could get a time and materials project cost.  


Going through that process, we also went from what was initially a like-for-like replacement of the PassPort system into replacement which included building some of the back end of the SAP system.  Now, the SAP system sits on a NetWeaver platform, and that platform has to be implemented in order to be able to put the additional modules in.  There are some 27 modules that have to be put in place as part of the SAP solution.  


So going through that process, having selected the systems integrator plus the application, the costs are increased to $130 million in capital.  Those numbers were taken in front of the Board for approval.  So the approval process was based on those numbers, not on the initial 53 million.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  So basically, as you looked at -- the more detailed you looked in the project, the more money you anticipate having to spend on it?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  As we went through the discovery phase, we understood what the implications of putting into the SAP solution were going to be.  That included bringing forward some of the costs related to some of the later phases, phase 2 and phase 3, because we're putting in the footprint.  Putting in the footprint in terms of the hardware infrastructure related to phase 2 and phase 3.  Making the business process changes that are required because we're going to an off-the-shelf solution, our goal is to stay with an off-the-shelf solution which requires that we change the business processes to do so.  And also provided us with a better understanding of the high-performance utility model that Accenture brought to us and the impact on our business. 


So a number of those items were put together.  We understood what the number of man hours required both from our contribution as well as from the system integration, as well as from Inergi, who was involved in this as well.  


We did a fairly significant analysis of that, because absolutely we were looking at the difference between the 50 and the $130 million to understand where those costs had come from, and what we were getting for those costs.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I just want to be clear in my mind about the timing.  This exhibit - again, it is IT1 in the updated exhibit - suggests that the $130 million will be spent over the course of 2007, 2008.  


Again, my understanding was that the original had 52 million being spent in 2007, 2008, 2009, which suggests that the time lines have been compressed.  Is that correct or is that wrong?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The time lines have not changed.  We always intended to do phase 1 of the project and complete it by Q2 2008.  Phase 2 of the project was always intended to be completed Q2 2009.


So the original filing dated June 2006 looks at phase 1 and phase 2.  The revised filing breaks them into specific.  So there is phase 1, phase 2, phase 3, phase 4.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  So if I go over the page, then ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Can I ask a question?  Mr. Struthers, on your original filing you did have expenditures in 2006.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, we did.


MS. NOWINA:  Does that mean the start date was delayed?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We had intended to acquire the software in 2006.  We received Board approval to proceed with the project only in February of 2007.  At that point, we were then authorized to proceed with the acquisition of the software.  So that was the reason why that money was not spent in 2006.


MS. NOWINA:  So to Mr. Buonaguro's point, then, if your end date is still the same, there is come compression of your schedule because of that late start date?


MR. STRUTHERS:  There has been a minor compression.  We had intended to have the software in place prior to proceeding with the project.


What we have done, pursuant to timing of the Board and getting the approval dates, is we effectively put the two together, but it makes no impact on the total project timing.  We hadn't intended to start the actual project work until February of 2007.


MS. NOWINA:  I see.  It was just the acquisition?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It was just the acquisition of the software.


MS. NOWINA:  I see.  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  You can see on the screen -- and I am flipping through the other phases of it, and there doesn't seem to be a phase 2 reflected in here.


MS. NOWINA:  It is later, Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry?


MS. NOWINA:  It is after.  At least in our binder, it is after 4.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, it is after 4, okay.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I apologize for the referencing.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, here it is, IT5.


MR. STRUTHERS:  IT5.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Originally, phase 1 and phase 2 is estimated at 52 million, and now phase 1 is $130 million and phase 2 has no estimate?


MR. STRUTHERS:  As I explained yesterday ‑‑


MR. BUONAGURO:  I can apologize.  I was moving back and forth.  I tried to keep track of what was being asked, so I'm sorry if I am asking you to reiterate questions.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am happy to answer your question, but, as I explained yesterday to Ms. Campbell, we had put together a set of numbers in order for the June filing or for the material that was prepared in June 2006.


They were there primarily as indicative numbers.  We went through a discovery phase in order to ensure the scope, understood exactly what the scope was, what the costs were.


What we didn't want to do this time, and when we refiled the evidence, was to, again, put in numbers that would not make sense, because we haven't done an analysis of exactly what is required for phase 2 and phase 3 yet.  


That process is now ongoing.  We will have indicative numbers at some point during the summer.  We will go through another discovery phase to understand exactly what is being prepared, required, needed, and we will then have a contract that will go through an RFP forum and we will have firm numbers to work with.  


We don't have firm numbers for phase 2, phase 3 or phase 4, nor do I want to sort of even guess what those numbers might be.


I was asked to give an indicative and I did so only with sort of some hesitation yesterday.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Who wishes to go next?  Ms. Girvan, thank you.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MS. GIRVAN:

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Panel, my name is Julie Girvan and I am representing the Consumers Council of Canada.


Just to follow up on a couple of questions on the Cornerstone project, can you just explain to me, Mr. Struthers, what's Inergi's role in the Cornerstone project?  It's not clear to me sort of Hydro One's role, Inergi's role and how that is all mixed together.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.  The Inergi provides outsourcing services for us, so they provide for the IT side of the house.  They provide the data centre operations, the shared services operations, sort of what was talked about in the OM&A costs.


They also provide for us the accounts payable function, as well as some of the supply chain function.


So phase 1 of the Cornerstone project deals specifically with the accounts payable, the purchasing and supply functions, as well as the IT, building the IT infrastructure.  So they are heavily involved.


This project will impact at least 400 of their employees who currently provide those outsourced services to us, so they're very heavily involved in it.


MS. GIRVAN:  In your view, is it sort of a joint venture that you are undertaking with Inergi, because I guess -- just to clarify, I guess my view is that Inergi does provide your IT services, as you said, as an outsourcing service, and you rely on them to do what I would see -- this kind of work.  But in this case, it seems that Hydro One is taking the lead and involving Inergi in this, and it's not clear to me, that interplay.


MR. STRUTHERS:  We decided early that the better role for Inergi in this project was to work with us as a partner.  Because of the outsource nature of the Inergi contract, they provide the bodies to do a lot of our work.


We wanted to competitively bid the RFP work; therefore, we excluded Inergi from that RFP.  They have a function in providing effectively bodies and help to help us implement the application, but we wanted to ensure that we had a competitive bid and we did not include Inergi in the first part of that bid; at least phase 1.


MS. GIRVAN:  Do you have a separate contract with Inergi with respect to its involvement in this Cornerstone project?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes we do.  We have a separate contract with each of the three parties.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And in terms of the sort of overall risk involved in cost overruns and things like that, how is that going to be managed between Hydro One and Inergi?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We have a fairly ‑‑ well, we have a very structured -- not fairly.  We have a very structured project structure for this particular project.


We have a project office, which is run both by ourselves and also by Accenture.  That project office keeps track of the time and materials costs, as well as the work accomplishments, so what they are doing against milestones and plan.


That information is reported at least monthly, if not more than that, to an operations committee, which oversees the costs, where the project is, what the issues around the project are, issues such as personnel issues, providing bodies, the change management process, because that's a major part of this project.


That information is also reported up into the executive committee of the organization, which is made up of the CEO, acting CEO, the CFO and executive branch, and that information is also reported up to the steering committee from the board, which is the transformation committee of the Hydro One board.


So there is considerable oversight.  The costs are tracked and reviewed.


MS. GIRVAN:  You mentioned Accenture.  What is Accenture's role in the project?


MR. STRUTHERS:  When we went through the RFP 

project -- process, we selected Accenture with SAP.  Accenture was brought in as the systems integrator.  They brought in the high performance utility model, which is effectively best practices in utilities from around 200 utilities that they have been involved with, and that provides us with what we believe is the "as is", where we want to get to.  


We're comparing that currently to our own existing practices, working towards the "as is" process.


We believe that there are some improvements that can be brought to us through that Accenture process, and also we want to ensure, because we know that high performance utility model interfaces with the SAP and in fact works with the SAP product, we want to make sure that we follow that as closely as we can to avoid any customizations on that product.  


So Accenture was selected through an RFP to provide the system integrator, as well as the business transformation and change management, and SAP was selected as the application. 


MS. GIRVAN:  I guess the way I'm looking at it, this is sort of different than when you were in the distribution case and you were discussing sort of your IT projects and the relative roles and responsibilities of Hydro One and Inergi.


I'm just wondering, is there some sort of a document that sets out the relative roles and responsibilities with respect to Cornerstone?  And I'm looking at Accenture, SAP, Inergi and Hydro One.  


I just see this as sort of a ‑‑ it's different than what we discussed in the distribution case, in terms of shared services and Hydro One relying largely on Inergi for its IT services.  Now we're sort of moving to what I see as a different model.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.  Well, the difference here is this is a project.  So this is a specific project to deliver a specific functionality.


So it is a replacement of an existing PassPort application with an SAP solution.  


On an ongoing basis, Inergi is still responsible for running that application for us.  The outsource contract that we have with them still allows -- the way it's written and contractually agreed to, even if we replace the applications they will still run those applications for us through until the end of the contract.  So that is the reason why they are involved.  


But this is a project, and a project per se.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, all right.  Thank you.  


Also with respect to Cornerstone, just to follow up on some of the other questions.  


Are the phases all linked?  Or could they be viewed as a project with sort of four separate subprojects, in effect?  I guess what I'm really getting at is, once you've launched phase 1, which you're here today talking specifically about phase 1 and the costs of phase 1, are you committed to the other phases?  Or could potentially the project be after you've got phase 1 up and running where you sort of reassess where you're at in terms of going somewhere down a different path than you have planned at this stage?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am happy to speak to that.  


The Cornerstone project was presented to the board as a, basically a system, enterprise systems replacement project.  We have -- 


MS. GIRVAN:  You mean your board of directors. 


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, sorry my board of directors.  We have three applications:  The Customer One system, the PassPort system and PeopleSoft systems, all of which were put in place for Y2K issues, and they were all updated at that point in time.  They were customized heavily after that.  One of the things we did when we went into the Inergi contract was we moved the bodies over to Inergi that understood the customization attached to those applications. 


So Inergi has within it the resident knowledge attached to those applications.  If I continue using those applications, Inergi is the best party to deliver those services.  So that is one issue. 


The applications themselves are no longer supported by the application vendor.  The PeopleSoft application, the HR and the finance application won't be supported by -- past 2009.  So I have to do something with those applications.  The PassPort application is, itself, has presented problems for me back two years ago as well as a little bit this year, in terms of performance.  So I do know I have to replace the applications.  


The advantage with going with the SAP enterprise suite was that it allowed me to effectively take what were, before, disparate individual applications and put them together on one enterprise system.  And that enterprise system would then allow information to be passed freely between the applications.  


So to answer your question, while one can do phase 1 and then come along and do phase 2 and do phase 3, one, having chosen the SAP suite or the Enterprise NetWeaver suite would probably or more than likely would follow, at least during phase 1, phase 2 and phase 3 as a SAP solution.  


Phase 4, there is, that's far enough out that one can make a decision as to what that application might look like.  But because of the finance nature of SAP, one would, having done sort of phase 1, one would more than likely have to do phase 2 and phase 3 with the SAP solution.  


MS. GIRVAN:  So it's more likely you would be going that route, but not necessarily?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  It's more likely.  In fact, we have, through SAP, come to an arrangement on the software that makes sense for us to buy the software now.  We have decided, at least for phase 1, 2 and 3 to use a SAP solution.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Now with respect to 2007 and 2008, your current budget for phase 1 is $130 million, and we have heard some discussion about that this morning.  


Can you tell me, in terms of transmission, how much of that is allocated to transmission versus - just remind me -versus distribution.  


MR. STRUTHERS:  I will defer to my colleagues. 


MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, I know it is there somewhere but I just need to have it fresh in my mind.  


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe table 6 actually may provide you that information, table 6 on page 15 of 35, in Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 5.  


MS. GIRVAN:  I don't have that in front of me.   


MR. STRUTHERS:  Of the amount.  I was going to say I have to do math in my head but I would prefer not to. 


MS. GIRVAN:  Is it in that exhibit?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, it is.  


MS. GIRVAN:  I can pull it up. 


MR. STRUTHERS:  It is 57 million in 2007 and 15.8 million in 2008.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, 57?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  57 million in 2007.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  


MR. STRUTHERS:  15.8 million in 2008.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So largely it is almost a 50-50 split, I mean, between transmission and distribution.  And do these systems assist transmission and distribution in the same way?  It's not clear to me.  That's really my question.  


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.  


MS. GIRVAN:  I realize the allocation would have come out of the Rudden study, but I am just trying to get a sense of the particular systems you're putting in place and how they assist distribution and transmission.  


MR. STRUTHERS:  The phase 1, what we are putting in is we're putting in the accounts payable system, supply chain management system, as well as some of the asset management and some of the scheduling systems, as well as the finance system that sits underneath it.  So we create effectively a subledger which then transports information or provides information up into the PeopleSoft general ledger.  


So the business as a whole collectively, whether it is doing transmission or distribution, because it has to pay suppliers, because it has to do work, will use, and will use inventory and will use the inventory management applications both for transmission and distribution.  It works for both organizations.  


MS. GIRVAN:  So you haven't really gone beyond the Rudden allocation in terms of assessing specifically?  


MR. VAN DUSEN:  The Rudden methodology for taking a look at common capital expenditure costs indicates that if a project can be identified as being largely supportive of one business or the other, then the costs should be allocated in that way.  


If they're general in nature, which an enterprise-wide system is, they would be allocated according to the Rudden methodology for major capital expenditures.  So yes, we look at each major capital expenditure program, and determine whether it is significantly benefitting one business or the other and whether a specific allocation should be used, or whether it generally system or general capital expenditure that serves both transmission and distribution in which case the Rudden methodology is applied.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So it's my understanding that your expectations - this is for Mr. Struthers - is that the phase 1 will be in service in the last quarter of 2008?  Is that what you said?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  Phase 1 will be in place by June 30th, 2008.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right.  And can you help me understand, for 2007 and 2008, the revenue requirement impact?  You might need an undertaking to do this, of this particular project.  For 2007 I think it is zero.  Because the project isn't expected to be in service and embedded in your rate application would be the in-service date of June 2008.  


So I am just trying to understand the impact on rates of this particular project in 2008.  


[Witness panel confers]  


MR. STRUTHERS:  We will take an undertaking to do that for you.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  


MS. LEA:  K5.4, please.  


UNDERTAKING NO. K5.4:  TO provide details regarding 

the revenue requirement impact of the Cornerstone 

project in 2007 and 2008, assuming a June 30th, 2008 

implementation date


MS. GIRVAN:  Do you need me to repeat that?  


MS. LEA:  Yes, please.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I would like to understand the revenue requirement impact of the Cornerstone project in 2007 and 2008, and that assumes a June 30th, 2008 implementation date.  


So I realize that is your expected in-service date.  Can you tell me right now where you think you are with respect to that?  Is that still, in your view, a realistic target?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  The other thing -- I guess this is fairly important from a ratepayer perspective.  What relief, what specific relief is Hydro One asking for with respect to this project?  Because what I see is, I see potentially in 2007, there is no sort of rate -- potentially no rate-making impact.  2008 there is going to be some level of a rate-making impact.  


Then you've got an additional three phases, and for this Board to, at the end of the day, in its decision, I am curious as to what Hydro One is specifically seeking, in terms of approval from the Board with respect to Cornerstone.  


Is it simply the rate-making implications of phase 1 of the project, or is Hydro One seeking something beyond that?


MR. ROGERS:  I have an answer, but if the witnesses would like to volunteer an answer, that is okay with me.


MS. NOWINA:  I would like it better from the witnesses, Mr. Rogers.  You're not sworn.


MR. ROGERS:  I don't blame you.  It is also more reliable.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  Specifically with respect to 

the ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Your mike is not on.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  My apologies.  Specifically with respect to the Cornerstone project, we're obviously looking for approval of the expenditures in 2007 and 2008, the in‑service additions which will be included in rate base in 2008, and therefore the impact on revenue requirement.  


And also we would like to get a strong indication from the Board, with their approval, of the phase 1 expenditures, that they understand the route we're going with respect to the ‑‑ with the four phases and that they see the Cornerstone project as a worthwhile endeavour for the company to undertake in its whole.


MS. GIRVAN:  But would you agree with me that without any cost estimates beyond phase 1, that might be a very difficult decision for this Board to make?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  As part of panel 4, Mr. Poray and Mr. Innis will be here to talk about the revenue requirement adjustment mechanism for 2009 and 2010 and how capital expenditures are to be dealt with in that period.  So I would defer to them to talk to that issue.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right, thank you.


Just a quick question back on ‑‑ I'm jumping around a little bit ‑‑ back on the involvement of the other parties, the system integrator.  How are the risks going to be shared?  I got at that a little bit earlier, but I didn't quite get a clear answer from you.


It is just, once again, I have seen IT projects and I have seen them go and go and get bigger and bigger and bigger, and from a ratepayer perspective.  It is a concern that there are sufficient policies in place to ensure the risks are appropriately shared and appropriately managed with respect to this project.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I understand the question.  We have tried to address the risks through, effectively, the structure; so the review structure, ensuring that it has the ability to quickly be escalated up to the board for them to understand what's going on, by going with an off-the-shelf application.  


Most of the problems you run into with IT projects is when you start getting into customizations or when you start trying to make the actual application do the work the way the work is currently being done.  


So we're taking a different approach.  We're taking an approach which basically says, We'll leave the tool as it is, and we will change the business processes and measure how those business processes are being changed, so that we get the results we expect to get.  


The executive itself, all the parties involved in this project, that is part of their STI.  One of the measures is their support of this project.


We also have an agreement from Accenture that they will deliver the project to us.  We have a holdback to ensure that they do so.


We also have, from SAP, an understanding and agreement that they will provide to us a document that tells us that what we have installed is vanilla SAP.  We are also looking at the hardware vendors to tell us that what they have installed is vanilla hardware running in a vanilla SAP environment.  


So we are trying to reduce the risk certainly as it is associated to the applications and ensure that we have Accenture on the hook to deliver what they are required to deliver; Hydro on the hook, personally myself, as well as my other co‑executives, to ensure that they support the project; and also making sure that we put the right people on the project to deliver it; and then the transparency up through the various operating committee, executive committee, and board to understand where that project is going.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.


Is there any way you can tell me what you've spent to date in 2007?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would be hazarding a guess, so I could ‑‑ I will look at my ‑‑ 


I can undertake to provide you with where we are currently.  We have purchased the software and we also have incurred some costs associated with obviously the project.  It's ongoing at the moment.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, that would be helpful.


MS. LEA:  So that undertaking is desired?  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  K5.6.


UNDERTAKING NO. K5.6:  TO PROVIDE AMOUNT SPENT 

TO DATE ON IMPLEMENTATION OF IT INITIATIVES.

MS. GIRVAN:  Mr. Struthers, in terms of this being what I see as a very large capital project, and we're looking at this $130 million over two years, and if this board were to say, we think maybe you might want to look at this in terms of smoothing it out over a longer time period -- and I'm sure you're not surprised at this question.


Mr. STRUTHERS:  No.


MS. GIRVAN:  I would just like to understand, at the end of the day, if the Board said, perhaps, you know, $40 million over these next two years is an appropriate level of expenditure, and then come back once you have sort of proven that you are on the right track, to sort of avoid this $130 million in one year, which seems like quite a large undertaking and might be difficult to achieve.


So I'm just trying to understand the implications of if, at the end of the day, this Board were to do that, to sort of say, rather than having it so lumpy, that perhaps you should smooth out the expenditures over the next several years.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.


MS. GIRVAN:  You can just tell me what you think about that proposal.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I will address your points.


There are a number of reasons for doing it in a compressed manner.


One is the Inergi contract expires in 2012.  If I continue using the existing applications that I have, which are customized and which Inergi is the only one that can support, then it makes it very difficult for me to do anything with that contract at the end of 2012.


I still need to run the systems.  I still need to run the business.  I require their assistance to do so.  Hence, there is a window there.


If you have a long IT project, the problem with that is effectively the longer the project, the more money it burns.  Hence, a short project which is delivered in a concise manner is more efficient to deliver.


This is a significant change management project.  I would argue the IT side is not that complex, but that would be sort of underestimating that role.  But the real issue here is change management.


To get the benefit out of the application, because we're going off the shelf requires us to make a significant investment in how we change the way we do business within the organization.  And there are a large number of people that are impacted.  It's not possible to do this in sort of -- do one portion of the business, such as engineering construction services, and then lines, and then somebody else.  


You need to put it in as a package in a fairly succinct and defined mode.


So the issues are the longer -- if we were to stretch this out, it would cost more.  It would also impact our ability to meet our target of having those applications replaced before they come out of support for the vendor.  And it would also likely sort of increase the cost because of the window increases.  Therefore, the project management charges increase, the overhead charges increase, and a concise project delivered in a concise manner is more effective and more efficient.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So at the end of the day, you see benefits in terms of changing the way you do business.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Those benefits are likely going to reduce your overall cost of service going forward?


MR. STRUTHERS:  They will make us more efficient in how we deliver the services that we currently have.  So they will make us more efficient in terms of being able to do our capital programs.


MS. GIRVAN:  So in the period beyond sort of 2008, how are you going to ensure that those cost savings flow through to ratepayers?  And maybe that is something that the panel number 4 might want to deal with, but...


[Witness panel confers]


MS. STRUTHERS:  I am advised that panel 4 probably is in a better position to answer that question.


MS. GIRVAN:  All right, thank you.  Madam Chair, I am a little bit more than 15 minutes.  I apologize.  Would you like me to break now or just keep forging ahead?


MS. NOWINA:  How much more do you have left, Ms. Girvan?


MS. GIRVAN:  Probably about ten minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  Why don't you go ahead and we will take the break when you finish?


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  I'm changing topics, and these questions are likely for Ms. McKellar.


We referred yesterday quite a bit to Board Staff interrogatory tab 1 -- J, tab 1, schedule 40.  Specifically I'm looking at pages 2 and 3.  It is the schedule that sets out head counts and total compensation.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I have that.  


MS. GIRVAN:  If you can just hold on to that for a second.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Okay.  


MS. GIRVAN:  I noticed repeatedly through your evidence, and we went through this quite a bit yesterday, there is a lot of reference to 90 percent of the workforce is subject to collective agreements.  Collective bargaining agreements. 


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's right. 


MS. GIRVAN:  I have seen that in different interrogatories and throughout your evidence.  And I take from that that you are really implying that with respect to 90 percent of the employees at Hydro One, you're limited to collective bargaining, in terms of managing these costs.  


MS. McKELLAR:  In terms of, yes, what is covered under the collective agreement in terms of wages, benefits and so forth, yes, we are limited to collective bargaining. 


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, so if I turn to Exhibit J, tab 1, schedule 40 and I look at page 3 which is total compensation. 


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes. 


MS. GIRVAN:  I'm not sure that this was set out yesterday, it is not clear to me.  You have talked about 90 percent  of the employees.  In terms of 2007, which we see total wages 493 million --


MS. McKELLAR:  Mm-hmm.


MS. GIRVAN:  -- and 2008, 508 million --


MS. McKELLAR:  That's right.  


MS. GIRVAN:  -- how much of these amounts relate to the employees that are subject to these collective bargaining agreements?  And if I go to the previous page, which sets out the representative groups within the company, I think what I'm really looking for is the MCP relative to the others.  Because you say 90 percent of the employees, but I would like to understand how much of the compensation is subject to those agreements, or how much of the compensation is not.  Do you understand my question?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I understand the question.  I don't believe I have that breakdown with me.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  What would actually be helpful to me is if you could sort of merge these two, in terms of taking the total wages and separating them into those various categories.  What I am really trying to understand is the level of your overall total compensation that isn't subject to collective bargaining agreements.  


MS. McKELLAR:  I understand.  You were looking at that, you said, for?  


MS. GIRVAN:  2007 and 2008.  


MS. McKELLAR:  2007 and 2008?  


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  


MR. ROGERS:  Well, my only hesitation is that I think maybe Ms. McKellar is concerned about the ongoing negotiations at the moment with the Society.  I understand the question and I acknowledge it is a relevant question.  I am just concerned about divulging information until at least the end of May when these discussions with the Society are over. 


MS. GIRVAN:  Well, could we then go back?  I'm trying to get sort of proportionally, because 90 percent of employees -- 


MR. ROGERS:  We understand.  I don't quarrel with the relevance of it. 


MS. GIRVAN:  I think she is nodding that that would be acceptable. 


MS. NOWINA:  Would historical work?  


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  I am just trying to get a sense.  I think we talked about 90 percent of employees.  I would like to know what percentage of the overall compensation. 


MR. ROGERS:  For 2006?  


MS. McKELLAR:  That would be fine, yes. 


MS. GIRVAN:  Maybe two years would be helpful, 2005 and 2006. 


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  


MS. NOWINA:  Get we get an undertaking number. 


MS. LEA:  K5.7.  


UNDERTAKING NO. K5.7:  PROVIDE level of overall total 

compensation that is nOt subject to collective 

bargaining agreements for 2005 and 2006


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Sorry, I didn't mean to go down a sensitive route, but I just -- I wasn't clear.  


Okay, yesterday we -- I'm not sure who filed it.  We have an Exhibit L4.6, which is the renewal annual information form.  I think this was a Board Staff document.  I can hold it up.  It says "Hydro One" on the front.  


It is L4.6.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I have it.  


MS. GIRVAN:  This is for you again, Ms. McKellar.  At the top of page 10 there is reference to the agency review panel.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I see that.  


MS. GIRVAN:  And from what I understand, this was a committee, a panel set up by the Minister of Energy at the end of January of this year to look at executive compensation within various public sector organizations in the energy industry.  Is that correct?  


MS. McKELLAR:  In Ontario, yes, that's correct.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Can you just help me understand Hydro One's role in that particular study, and if you've assessed what the potential implications of that might be.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Hydro One has been cooperating fully with the panel and I believe that we have finished our interviews in providing information to the panel and are waiting, awaiting the report.  


MS. GIRVAN:  From what I understand the report is expected shortly, in the spring of 2007, which I suppose is anytime now.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that is my understanding as well. 


MS. GIRVAN:  Has Hydro One assessed what the potential implications of that might be within the company?  


MS. McKELLAR:  I'm not aware of those discussions.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Would you agree that potentially what might come out of this is some sort of adjustment to the executive compensation within Hydro One?  


MS. McKELLAR:  I would agree that that's a possibility, yes.  


MS. GIRVAN:  And if that happened, how would you ensure that those benefits flow through to ratepayers, in terms of reduced costs?  I guess what I'm really saying is that there is a potential for the overall compensation costs to be reduced as a result of this particular panel and I'm just wondering if you have assessed that, and if you have, if you have thought about how those benefits could potentially flow through to ratepayers.  


MR. ROGERS:  I'm not sure that Ms. McKellar really is the best one to answer that question.  Not being totally familiar with the regulatory regime is my concern. 


MS. NOWINA:  Is there another panel who could address that?  


MS. GIRVAN:  Mr. Poray might have some -- 


MR. ROGERS:  Maybe Mr. Van Dusen.  I just know Ms. McKellar is not a veteran of these affairs, but Mr. Van Dusen may know more about it.  If somebody can help, that's fine.  Once again, I have an answer but the Board would rather have yours.  


MR. VAN DUSEN:  You're raising a case in point, a scenario where there could be reduced costs to the company and how do we ensure those reduced costs would flow through. 


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, that's right. 


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Like any forecast that is put together and put in front of this Board, it is a forecast at a point in time.  It is put together with the best information we have available.  In this proceeding, Hydro One actually updated not only for 2006 actuals but from other major changes in external assumptions which changed our work plans and they were filed on February 23rd.  


So, yes, I guess there is a possibility there could be adjustments to costs downwards.  There could be other impacts that come to bear that drive our costs up.  And to say on a whole how they will impact the overall level of revenue requirement for 2007 and 2008, I think is too hard to say.  


You could individually pick discrete items and say this would be the impact, but right now there could be offsetting impacts in the other direction.  So like I say, a forecast is put together at a point in time and, yes there are pluses and minuses and Hydro One bears the risk of those pluses and minuses because we could have more pluses than minuses that impact us after rates are established. 


MS. GIRVAN:  So you agree with me unless the revenue requirement was adjusted, then those benefits wouldn't flow through to ratepayers of the reduced compensation costs?  It is arguable, but...


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Unless something comes to bear before these proceedings are over and the revenue requirement is adjusted by this Board, I am not necessarily clear how they would be flowing through to ratepayers.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  Just briefly.  There was some discussion yesterday about incentive payments, and the particular focus was about including incentive pay related to net income in the cost of service.  


I would just like to get some idea as to order of magnitude, and specifically maybe you would have to sort of look at this going back, if you could give me some idea of what level of incentive payments overall have been related to net income.  


I saw in the distribution decision a reference to incentive payments in the order of 3.4 million overall.  


MS. McKELLAR:  You're talking about the short-term incentive program which is for management staff?  


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes. 


MS. McKELLAR:  You're asking me how much the incentive payments were overall in terms of -- 


MS. GIRVAN:  Incentive payments overall and then what portion of those are specific -- have been specifically related to net income.  I don't know if that is possible, but what I'm getting at is, there is some discussion about whether or not those should be excluded from the cost of service.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  There was, I believe, in the evidence -- if you will give me a moment.  I believe we did -- we have included the incentive payments for management in the evidence.  


MS. GIRVAN:  If you wanted to just undertake to provide that to me, that would be helpful. 


MS. McKELLAR:  I believe I have it here.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  


MS. McKELLAR:  If you look at the evidence at Exhibit C2, tab 3, schedule 1, page 3.  Schedule 1, page 3.  This is where we're showing one of the three sample jobs, and, for example, the incentive programs are shown for 2003 to 2008.  They're much larger in the years 2003 and 2004, 2005 as a result of what we had -- was called a long-term incentive program, which was a proxy for stock options when we thought that there was going to be an IPO at Hydro One.


When this was changed, the program was stopped and we now have what's called the short-term incentive program.


So those were the amounts that were paid out, the average dollars for ‑‑


MS. GIRVAN:  Those are average dollars; right?


MS. McKELLAR:  Those are average dollars, yes.  And in terms of your question regarding how much of that incentive program is tied into the achievement of our net income targets, as I said yesterday, if we looked at 2006, Hydro One had a performance score card which had 14 performance measures, none of which are weighted and all are taken in a balance.


I would reiterate that even in a year in which net income was met or surpassed and other measures were not met, there would not necessarily be any incentive paid out to management staff.  So I can't attribute any weighting to that net income.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right, thank you.


Just one quick area.  If we turn to Exhibit J9.53.  This is an interrogatory from my client regarding the PA study.


It's J, tab 9, schedule 53.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we have that.


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Just to follow up, there were some questions about this yesterday, and the interrogatory refers to complying with the Board directive.


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  That Board directive came from the distribution case, in which the Board expressed some concern about overall compensation levels and directed Hydro One to engage an independent party.


I just want to be clear that what's happened is that from Hydro One's perspective, that's done.  You're filing some information as part of an undertaking that updates that.


But I just want to get a sense, is that it, or is there going to be more provided and filed in potentially the next case?  


My concern is I think the best efforts was to file in the transmission case.  I don't think the study was necessarily seen to be a best efforts to get it done.


So I would just like to get a better sense of whether Hydro One is prepared to commit to file better information.  My concern is really about, as you see in the text at the undertaking, that really what PA has provided are some general observations and that it really says to me that they really haven't completed any analysis that could be meaningful and brought forward.  


So if you could just help me try to understand going forward.  We talked a bit about this yesterday, but I would like to understand your position.


MR. CARLETON:  Well, what we undertook PA Consulting to do was to complete the benchmarking study on a best efforts basis, given the timing we had.  I think what they provided was an indication of where transmission stood with respect to its cost metrics, which said we were -- I believe they made a general comment that we were in the middle of the pack when it came to reliability cost metrics, those types of things.


At this point, we haven't contracted with PA Consulting to do any more work on those cost metrics.


MR. ROGERS:  I can tell the Board this, and I mean I'm not ‑‑ I don't want to make an undertaking, but I have read what the Board said in the last distribution case and I think I understand what the Board was directing the company to do, and the company will honour that direction.  


So there is consideration being given now to the distribution case and this work for the distribution case.


I can't commit to the Board that my client will do that, because I'm not sure what form it will take.  I addressed this with my friend Ms. Girvan, too.  But I have read what the Board said and so has my client, and it will be honoured.


MS. NOWINA:  It is under consideration by Hydro One?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Just one question.  What was the cost of the PA study and how are those costs to be recovered?


MR. CARLETON:  I don't know the actual cost of the consultant's study.  They were funds expended in 2006 and so they won't come into the revenue requirement for 2007. 


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.  


Mr. Long and Mr. MacIntosh, can I get a sense of how long you think your cross will take?


MR. LONG:  My colleague is going to do cross-examination.  It's between ‑‑ 20 minutes, roughly.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. MacIntosh?


MR. MacINTOSH:  I just have a couple of questions, probably five minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  How do parties feel about us continuing, then, and finishing with this panel before we take any breaks?  All right, why don't we continue, then?  Mr. MacIntosh, are you going to go first?


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. MacINTOSH:

MR. MacINTOSH:  Although I am partly behind a pillar, my questions are just on IT, so I can see the part of the panel... 


Panel, my name is David MacIntosh and I am here on behalf of Energy Probe Research Foundation.  I was in another hearing yesterday morning and I read the transcript, but if you have already answered this question, just let me know.


Am I correct in thinking that the name Cornerstone project bears no relation to the IT changes envisioned by the applicant from 2006 to 2011?  It's, rather, a name adopted for ease of communication.  It could have been called Tripstone or Futurestone or something else?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It could have been called anything.


MR. MacINTOSH:  Fine.  And the specific question I have is that within Cornerstone, within any of the four phases and the many applications, is there an application that will enable the company to break out its capital project estimates and forecasts in categories such as cost of materials and cost of labour?


MR. STRUTHERS:  In phase 3, which is the financial side of it, there is a project costing module that should provide additional information that should hopefully address your requirement, yes.


MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you.  Those were my only two questions, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.  Ms. Pylyshyn.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. PYLYSHYN:

MS. PYLYSHYN:  We actually have a document.  This is a document that was filed by the Society in February, but we have brought hard copies, because I think it is hard to read in the electronic form.


MR. ROGERS:  I think the witnesses will probably have it, if you tell us what the exhibit number is.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Well, that's a good question.  It is the Canadian Electricity Association human resources study, the 2004 study.  Do you have that?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I have that.  I am having difficulty hearing you sometimes.  I'm not sure whether it's the distance or...


MS. NOWINA:  I think it is on.  Maybe you just need to be closer to it.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  The panel has copies?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I do.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Just before I start with my questions, I would like to repeat something that I said last time, which is that we're going to be asking a few questions which are relevant to our alternative position, and I will go through those questions, keeping in mind that our first position is that it is beyond this Board's jurisdiction to be issuing directives or findings on matters relating to collective bargaining, matters that are covered by collective bargaining, the reason being that we will be arguing later it is beyond the statutory authority of the Board, also that it infringes on the constitutional and statutory rights of the unionized employees; and finally, that it puts Hydro One in an impossible position with respect to their duty to --under the Ontario Labour Relations Act to come to the table and bargain freely and in good faith.  So those are going to be our arguments later, but keeping in mind that that is our first position, we would like to ask a few questions in our alternative position.  


The first document that I would like to put to Ms. McKellar is this human resources study.  These are questions that were addressed to some degree by Mr. Stephenson's questions yesterday, but I would like to get into a little bit more detail on them.
Maybe Ms. McKellar, could you just explain to me first of all, or tell me first of all, whether you are familiar already with this study.  I assume you are.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I am very familiar with the study.  In fact it was Hydro One's former CEO, Tom Parkinson, who commissioned the study when he was in the chair of the C.A. position.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  So you know it well.


MS. McKELLAR:   Yes, and my boss, as I said yesterday, Tom Goldie, is also the chair of the Electricity Sector Council, which is one of the products that came out of the Keeping the Future Bright study. 


MS. PYLYSHYN:  I take it that you endorse the study and you agree that it's a thorough and extensive study?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, it is. 


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Okay, thanks.  Now I just have a few -- I am just going to point you to two pages that are of interest to us and then maybe ask you one or two questions about them.  


The first is page 23.  These are retirement projections.  So I wanted to point out, first of all, that it says that 17.3 of employees in the sector are going to be eligible to retire in the next five years, 37.3 in the next ten years.  And if you look on the side bullets, you will also note that 60.9 percent of managers and 64.7 percent of supervisors of electricians and power line workers expect to retire in the next ten years.  That's important for the Society, because it is the Society, for the most part, as well as PWU, that supervises electricians.  So those categories cover Society members.  


The other point that I think is important on page 23 is that the impact is expected to be the greatest among transmission companies.  


Then if you turn to page 25, there are a number of bullets outlining the potential risks of the implications of retirement of the current demographic situation.  


So these would include infrastructure projects slowing down or being stopped, reliability lessened, increase cost of production, greater or earlier reliance on automated systems, one company failing to manage the issue can impact on all of the others, and an influx of new entrants into the workforce may have a negative safety and productivity impact.  


I take it that you would agree with the report that these are the risks of the current demographic situation if the retirements are not managed properly.  Would you agree with that?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I would.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Now, can you just explain what they mean by a potential increased cost of production.  How could the pending retirements potentially increase the cost of production?  


MS. McKELLAR:  I'm sorry, which -- 


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Sorry, that's the -- 


MS. McKELLAR:  Oh, I see, increased cost of production.  Your question to me is?  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  In what way would the current demographic situation potentially increase the cost of production, if the retirements aren't managed properly?  


MS. McKELLAR:  I wasn't one of the authors of the report, but I expect that there is additional training that takes place.  You are bringing in more junior staff.  They're not fully productive until they're familiar with all aspects of the job.  


However, I would not say that that is what's currently happening at Hydro One.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Okay, well I will get into that in a minute.  


Now, so that would mean that new hires, I take it, require several years before they're competent in a position, for example, an engineer in a Society-represented position at Hydro One.  It takes a few years from the time that a new graduate is hired to the time when they can be  competent in an engineering position.  


MS. McKELLAR:  If you're talking about new graduates, I would say, yes, there is definitely a learning curve.  However, we also hire people at the journeyperson level or competent journeyperson, if you will, engineers who come fully trained already.  So it depends on the job that you're talking about.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Okay.  Page 26 talks about employment projections.  What interests me here is that it says that skilled workers in the electricity industry will have no trouble finding employment, and in fact there will be considerable competition for employees.  


Now, my question would be, I guess with respect to Society-represented employees mostly, would I be right in saying that the competition for the new employees is coming from other Ontario employees both within the electricity sector and outside the sector, as well as companies in other provinces, in the US, and overseas from all of those -- all of those directions?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Are you asking about the experience at Hydro One?  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Right.  I'm asking about the competition that Hydro One will be facing as a result of the demographics.  Where would the competition be coming from?  I'm suggesting it would be not just within electricity sector companies, but from other sectors as well.  And from other provinces, from other countries and even overseas.  Would that be fair?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Based on my experience, I would have to say that by and large the competition that we face with respect to losing Society staff would be to legacy companies of the former Ontario Hydro, such as Ontario Power Generation, Bruce Power, OPA, IESO, and those kinds of things.  I am not familiar with a great deal of competition, if you're asking about utilities in other provinces.  I don't find that that happens very much. 


MS. PYLYSHYN:  What about for new graduates being hired right out of university?  I take it that new graduates being hired right out of university are probably looking across the country, but also in other sectors.  For example, electricity engineering, graduates from electrical engineering programs, I would assume that the manufacturing industry, the transportation industry, they all would be hiring electrical engineers.  So the competition would be not just within the electricity sector but in other sectors as well.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, there is competition, but I will say I've personally been involved in the hiring of new graduates and we've been very successful in getting those graduates that we wanted to bring on board to Hydro One.  Part of that is because, as I said yesterday, we often have them working with us for several co-op terms or perhaps an internship.  


We also provide scholarships.  We're visible at various universities so we already have a relationship with them when they graduate.  So we have not had any difficulty getting those engineering graduates that we were targeting.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  I would like to talk about your efforts in that regard, then.  


I agree my understanding is that when you've hired new graduates in the past, you've been successful in recruiting top students; would you say that is fair? 


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's fair. 


MS. PYLYSHYN:  It is important for Hydro One to get the top students because of the kind of talent that you require for your operation; is that right?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I would agree with that.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Now, prior to 2006, it is my understanding that Hydro One always went to university campuses in the fall to recruit, put some real effort into recruiting the best graduates to be hired that spring.  That's right?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that is our process.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  And you would hire a number of new graduates every year, at least 20 a year; is that fair?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Depending on the year, yes, around 20.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  But you didn't hire any new graduates at all in 2006; right?  


MS. McKELLAR:  No, we didn't.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  You didn't hire any of the students who will be graduating in spring either; right?  


MS. McKELLAR:  We haven't hired any.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  And you didn't do the recruiting process this, for this year?  


MS. McKELLAR:  In 2007, although we were not on campus, we did consider some of the former co-ops that we had had. 


MS. PYLYSHYN:  You interviewed those students?  


MS. McKELLAR:  We interviewed –- yes, we did consider hiring some graduates for 2007, but we did not do so because we did not feel that they were the best skill set for what we were looking at at the time. 


MS. PYLYSHYN:  So for the students who will be starting this spring, you weren't able to find any that were up to your standards?  


MS. McKELLAR:  We missed the campus recruitment and, no, we did not find any that we wanted to bring on board.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Is that something that you should be concerned about, that, at this point, you're not able to find anybody, not a single student who was up to your standard?  


MS. McKELLAR:  I expect when we're back on campus and I'm hopeful that we will be back there this fall, we will find many good graduate trainees, many who have a relationship with Hydro One, and we'll be bringing graduates back on.  This was as a result of trying to get a more favourable cost structure, as I spoke about yesterday, and we wanted very prudent hiring around the number of regular staff we were bringing on.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Okay.  So it is not just new graduates was that Hydro One hasn't been hiring.  Between June 2005, which was the beginning of the strike, and the end of March '07, not a single new employee was hired into a permanent Society-represented position; right?


MS. McKELLAR:  No, that's not correct.  That is not correct.  There have been -- in June 2005, I believe there were 16 graduate trainees brought on, as well as we have recently ‑‑


MS. PYLYSHYN:  I'm talking about until March of 2007.  I know that in the past few weeks you have hired a few.


MS. McKELLAR:  I'm sorry, I thought you said we had not hired any since June of 2005.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  I said between June 2005 and March 2007, the end of March 2007.


MS. McKELLAR:  That's what I said.  I believe we hired 16 graduate trainees.  I believe it was in September ‑‑ September.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Of what year?  What year are you talking about?


MS. McKELLAR:  2005.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Were these the new graduates who, after you hired them, after you gave them the letter saying that they were hired, you sent letters withdrawing their ‑‑ terminating their employment, and these were the people who were later reinstated at arbitration?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, these are the same employees.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  You hired them, but you tried to terminate their employment but weren't able to because of an arbitration decision?  Is that what ‑‑


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  I am just clarifying who is she is talking about.


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  I hesitated to interrupt.  This, as was pointed out at the beginning, is not the Labour Relations Board.  I quite agree with that decision.  I'm having trouble understanding the relevance of this to 2007 and 2008 rates.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Can I just comment on the relevance?


MS. NOWINA:  Indeed.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  The relevance is about the demographic situation and the need to hire, and some important points I think that Ms. McKellar made earlier about the need to manage the retirements and ensure that there are enough people coming in to fill the spaces created by retirements.


MS. NOWINA:  I will accept that is relevant, Ms. Pylyshyn.  The last question was probably not and the witness doesn't need to answer that.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Okay, thank you.


MS. LEA:  If I could use this opportunity, please, to give an exhibit number to the material that was filed.


MS. NOWINA:  I believe it is already part of the record.


MS. LEA:  Oh, is it already?  Okay, I do apologize. 


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Ms. Pylyshyn.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  So the answer is that there were some students hired in June of 2005, but can I just clarify that aside from those students, until the end of March 2007 you didn't hire any employees into permanent, Society-represented positions?


MS. McKELLAR:  Into regular Society positions, that's correct.  We've hired many temporaries who are represented by the Society, but we have not hired any regular Society, until ‑‑ and we have begun hiring again in April of 2007.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Okay, thank you.


Now, what you just said, I think, is that the reason ‑‑ I understood you to say that the reason you weren't hiring is that you didn't want to hire under the current cost structure; is that what you said?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Meaning under the current collective agreement, the one that was awarded by Mr. Whitaker?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Now, I would say that the problem with this is that -- is the growing number of employees who will be retiring career by year.  You discussed this with Mr. Stephenson yesterday a little bit.


If you aren't replacing them, if you've gone through a year-and-a-half period without replacing any of the people who are retiring, how are you going to ensure that there are enough people who are experienced and competent enough to replace the senior people who are leaving?  That is my question.


MS. McKELLAR:  Well, we are hiring regular Society-represented employees as we speak.  We hired ten, I believe, in April.  We're in the process of hiring another 30, and those jobs have already been posted, so that would be 40 staff that we have hired overall.  I hope to be back on campus this fall hiring new graduates, and we're hiring prudently.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Is it your plan to hire new graduates into Society-represented positions in the fall?


MS. McKELLAR:  I'm hopeful that we will be hiring new graduates, yes.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Okay.  I would just like to go through a little bit of history, and the relevance of this line of questioning is actually to our first position about the mandate of the Board and the jurisdiction of the Board to make orders regarding matters that are covered by labour relations legislation.


Now, when we began yesterday, Ms. Cunningham referred to a directive of the Board at the 2006 distribution rate hearing.  That was ‑‑ I won't ask you to pull it up again, because I am sure you're quite familiar with it and we went over it in detail yesterday.  


The Board said that they expect Hydro One to demonstrate in the future that lower compensation costs per employee have been achieved or demonstrate concrete initiatives, whereby compensation costs will be brought more in line with other utilities.


You noted that you had taken the direction from the Board and it was your intention to try to comply with that; is that right?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.  Unless I misheard you, I think you said Ms. Cunningham?  Am I -- I'm trying to be sure I understand.  It was I think Ms. Campbell.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Oh, sorry, Ms. Campbell.  Yes, sorry about that.  It was a question from the OEB.


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  So my understanding is that your response to her was that you took the Board's direction and it was your intention to comply with it to the best of your ability.


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  And it's our understanding that you did try very hard to reduce compensation levels certainly for Society staff in 2005, and that was -- at the beginning of the negotiation for the new collective agreement in 2005, you asked for a number of concessions, including a two‑tiered compensation scale with lower pay rates for new employees and more hours of work for the same pay.  


Those were concessions that you were asking for in bargaining in 2005?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's correct, amongst other things, yes.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  You made it clear that your demand for those things were not up for negotiation; is that right?


MS. McKELLAR:  I was not ‑‑ I would have to say I was not involved in bargaining.  I'm not comfortable answering.  I will answer as many questions as I can, but I am not comfortable going over the bargaining agenda and what 

was ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Pylyshyn, I am having a hard time understanding the relevance of these specific details.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  The details are only ‑‑ and there are not many other details.  Briefly I wanted to go -- review with the Board.  There was an attempt made in 2005 to reduce compensation levels for unionized employees and to see what happened as a result of those attempts, and that the demands of Hydro One were put to arbitration.  That's really the direction of the questioning.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Maybe at that level, you could ask those questions of the witness.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  I am not interested in asking Ms. McKellar for the details of the bargaining agenda in 2005.  That's not the point of the questions.  It is only to make the point that there were some concessions attempted and to see what the result of that was.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Thank you.


I know that you weren't directly involved in bargaining, but do you recall that in April of 2005, after putting forward those ‑‑ its final offer, that Hydro One called the final offer vote?  It exercised its right to put its final offer to the employees of Hydro One in a vote, and that 90 percent of Society members voted and 95 percent rejected the conditions that the proposal offered; do you recall that?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I recall the final offer vote, and I am not certain about your numbers, but subject to check, they're probably right.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  A strike ensued, as we know, which lasted from the beginning of June until the end of September?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  And I expect that you would agree with me that it was a particularly difficult and bitter strike, and that it caused some lasting damage in the relationship between Society and Hydro One; would you agree?


MS. McKELLAR:  No, I wouldn't agree with that statement.  I think the relationship is improving and ‑‑ I wouldn't agree with that statement.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  I wouldn't dispute your statement that the relationship is improving, and, as you mentioned yesterday, that we're currently in negotiations for a new collective agreement in an attempt to try to fix the relationship, but that there were some long‑lasting effects from the strike?


MS. McKELLAR:  I think it is fair to say that all strikes are difficult for both parties and...


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Sure.  I mean, maybe a couple of pieces of evidence of problems in the relationship, for example, is that there are over 100 grievances that are now awaiting arbitration.  You're aware of that?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I am.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  And that there is an unfair labour practice application before the Ontario Labour Relations Board?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I am aware of that.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  All right.  I am going to move on to reviewing something else that came up yesterday.  


You were asked yesterday about the rationale behind moving large numbers of Society members into non-unionized management positions.  You were asked why you would consider it advisable to have an organizational structure with that many managers per employee.  


I would like to follow up on that.  And just a point, first, I think we were talking yesterday about approximately 150 Society members being moved into management positions.  Now, I believe that, counting the new positions that were created in 2005 and including some that still haven't been filled to today, that were posted recently, I think it is closer to 200.  Will you agree, 200 new management positions?  


MS. McKELLAR:  I would have to check that number.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Subject to check, closer to 200 than 150?  


MS. McKELLAR:  How many new management positions?  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  How many new management positions, right.  How many new management positions created since the end of the strike?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Since the end of the strike?  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Right.  


MS. NOWINA:  Do you know, Ms. McKellar?  


MS. McKELLAR:  I don't know the number.  I don't want to hazard a guess. 


MS. NOWINA:  Want to take it as an undertaking?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I can.  


MS. NOWINA:  Do you need it as an undertaking, Ms. Pylyshyn?  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Yes, thank you.  


MS. LEA:  K5.8, please.  


UNDERTAKING NO. K5.8:  TO PROVIDE NUMBER OF NEW 

MANAGEMENT POSITIONS CREATED SINCE THE END OF THE 

STRIKE

MS. PYLYSHYN:  Ms. McKellar, you indicated there is not necessarily a big difference between the top paid Society member and the bottom level management position.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes. 


MS. PYLYSHYN:  I guess that would be the bottom of band 7. 


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Would that be the bottom of the management level, the band 7 level?  


MS. McKELLAR:  The bands actually go down to band 10, but if you are talking about managerial accountability, I would say we typically look at a band 7. 


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Because 9 and 10 would be confidential clerical-type positions? 


MS. McKELLAR:  More of the administration jobs that are in confidential capacities. 


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Could you just give me an idea of the range of salaries for a band 7 manager.  Does it start -- where does it start and where does it end?  


MS. McKELLAR:  I would want to check, but I believe it is from $60,000 at the low end to $117,000 at the maximum.  


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Pylyshyn, before we spend a lot of time on this, you're aware there is an undertaking to compare the 150 lost Society jobs to the additional management jobs?  That would give us this specific information. 


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Yes, yes. 


MS. NOWINA:  I hope we're not treading over the same ground. 


MS. PYLYSHYN:  To compare them in salary. 


MS. NOWINA:  We're looking at costs for the two groups.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Right.  I think that there are a couple of questions that I have.  I will go quickly over it, but that will add to that.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  So to give a little bit more detail, I think, than what is covered by this undertaking.  Can you tell me how many bands -- so there are ten in all, you said.  Eight of them are management type. 


MS. McKELLAR:  There are ten management compensation bands. 


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Right. 


MS. McKELLAR:  Typically the bands 9 and 10 represent those people in administrative positions, in confidential jobs.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  And the numbers that you gave me just now which you're not sure about, that would be excluding incentive payments; right?  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's true.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  And it's my understanding -- in fact, I know that not all of the Society members who are made managers who are already at the highest level or the MP6 level, in fact some are MP5 or MP4s and there were even some MP2s which are the lowest possible bands, almost a new graduate level of Society employee, who were put into those new management positions.  Are you aware of that?  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's part of the undertaking, I understand, that we're going to be providing you with.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  You're going to be specifying the actual bands in the salary. 


MS. McKELLAR:  I believe we were asked to look at the people that had moved over from Society jobs into these management jobs.  So yes, I believe that information will be contained in that undertaking.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Okay.  So the salaries, not the bands but the salaries of each individual. 


MS. McKELLAR:  Salaries, yes. 


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Okay, I apologize, then.  


MR. ROGERS:  It won't be individual salaries, I assume, it will be the bands, won't it?  We won't be giving individual salaries. 


MS. NOWINA:  I'm assuming that will be the calculation that would result in an overall cost of the two groups. 


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, I don't expect individual employee information.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Because the bands are quite -- cover quite a range.  


MS. NOWINA:  We're looking at the individual costs, but at a summary, totalled, so we can see the total impact of those changes.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Now, you also mentioned that one of the reasons for the change in the manager-to-employee ratio, the increasingly big head on the organization, is that there are so many contractors to supervise now.  You said there is a lot of contracting out, therefore a lot of contractors to supervise, therefore you need more managers per employee.  


Did I understand that correctly?


MS. McKELLAR:  I said that was a factor.  I believe I said the major factor, however, was lessons learned during the strike showed we didn't have the right ratio of managerial positions supervising unionized-represented positions, and that became obvious during the 15-week strike.  We needed to have a different ratio of management to union-represented staff.  Then I said, yes, additionally the work program has grown, there is contractors and so forth.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Because of the new management positions, of the new management positions that we've been discussing, that, into which Society members moved -- I think we talked about 150 to 200 Society members becoming management.  Of those 150 to 200 new positions, it's my understanding that very few, if any of them, are responsible for supervising contractors other than -- unless you were talking about PWU hiring hall people.  


MS. NOWINA:  Is that a question, Ms. Pylyshyn?



MS. PYLYSHYN:  That was a question.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Am I aware of what supervision each MCP job is doing?  No, I'm not.  It would be a range of supervision involving, yes, the work that's being performed by some contract people, the work that's being performed by some hiring hall or EPSCA consultants that are in doing work.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Right.  Now, supervising PW [Microphone not activated] 


MS. NOWINA:  Your mike is off.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Supervising PWU hiring hall people was a function of Society members previously, and also of PWU-represented supervisors.  So that is not -- that wouldn't explain why you needed to have more excluded managers, because those people had already been supervised by Society members.  


Just to give you an example.  There are 18 new grid operations manager jobs, management jobs were created at the Ontario Grid Control Centre.  They took over the duties of sector control supervisors, Society-represented sector control supervisors and there is no supervision of any contractors involved in those jobs, are there?  


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  If Ms. Pylyshyn wishes to give evidence, there is a format for that.  I submit this is really -- it's an awkward situation, obviously, number one.  


Secondly, it is evidence, not questions.  And it is inappropriate.  I have hesitated to interrupt, but...


MS. McKELLAR:  Mr. Rogers, my understanding is that the jobs you're entering into, you now have a jurisdictional challenge against these that are in front of the labour board, as I understand.  It is also part of the bargaining agenda, and it would be very inappropriate for me to talk about any of these jobs, in particular, considering those other factors.  


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Pylyshyn, it appears we can't go down this path.  Is there another way that you can ask the questions?  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Well the question was in response to Ms. McKellar's statement yesterday, that the reason why it was necessary -- one of the factors in the decision to have such a high manager-to-employee ratio was the need to supervise all these contractors.  


So we feel that it is important to -- 


MS. NOWINA:  Do you have a question to ask so you can get facts from the witness?  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  The question that I put to Ms. McKellar was, could she confirm, would she agree with me that very few of the disputed positions, new management positions into which Society members have been moved, are actually involved in any supervision of contractors.


MS. McKELLAR:  I can only reiterate as I said earlier, the ratio that we're talking about - and I wouldn't say it is a very high ratio, as you just said; we think it is an optimal ratio - is because we wanted more managers to be supervising union-represented staff.


I added in that the work program has grown substantially, which involves more supervision of the work, if you will, or of letting contracts, or procurement policy and so forth.  So, no, I actually would not be able to give you detail about whether or not specific positions are supervising contract staff.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Okay.  You couldn't give me any specific positions that are actually involved in the supervision of contractors in any of those new positions that Society members have been moved into?  Okay, thank you.


Those are all of my questions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  If the witness panel can bear with us for another ten minutes, we will be able to take the Board Panel's questions and should be able to finish up.  Mr. Rupert.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. RUPERT:  I think all of my questions have to do with Cornerstone.  I think the other ones have been dealt with.


I can't find it in the transcript from yesterday, Mr. Struthers, but I am sure it is there.  You gave some numbers that you described as ballpark, rough, crude estimates for phases 2, 3 and 4.  And if I recall correctly ‑ I haven't got the reference ‑ my memory is that all in, 1, 2, 3 and 4, it came up to about $400 million, is what I took from your comments yesterday.


MR. STRUTHERS:  With the caveats I provided, yes.


MR. RUPERT:  Yes.  I will come back to that a little later.


Phase 1 of the project was the one that is costed.  In the description, IT1, and in your comments you talked an awful lot about how the company's processes are going to be adapted to fit the system.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.


MR. RUPERT:  That's going to require a certain amount of work and you will re-engineer the processes.  Does the $130 million cost that is in there for phase 1, does that include the costs of re-engineering business processes of the corporation to fit the new system, or is that a separate cost?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, it includes it.


MR. RUPERT:  How much would there be, roughly speaking?  How much is there versus a piece of hardware and SAP software installed as compared to whatever work is necessary to redesign the processes and train people?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I can't give you the specifics.  I can give you sort of what the hardware costs are, what the software costs are.  The change management aspect to it, the design aspect to it, the application design I can't give you.  So roughly I would say 70 percent of the costs relates to change management.


MR. RUPERT:  Seventy percent change management, okay.


Does that 70 percent of those costs -- does that include any costs that Inergi itself will have to incur to presumably reorient what it does, since it has all of these employees that run the system?  Does that cost cover the system of reformatting what Inergi does and training their staff?


 MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, it does.  The 70 percent, as I say, is sort of rough, but we're looking at Inergi having to change its processes and also doing change management within its organization, as well as changes in the Hydro One processes, yes.  So it is all in; it includes change management.


MR. RUPERT:  When you went forward to the board, your board, for approval for the project and I guess specifically the phase 1 costs --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. RUPERT:  ‑‑ given the answer you had to Ms. Girvan this morning that you really -- having committed to phase 1, you more or less have committed to phases 2 and 3.  That's what I took from the answer.  You could turn back if you wanted, but you've really gone down that road.


So when you go into that phase 1, what costs do you provides to your board of directors to get approval for phase 1, knowing that 2 and 3 sound like have to follow?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We took them through the business case associated with just phase 1, told them what we were doing and sort of what avenues and what options were available to phase 2 and 3, but it was really treated as a separate stand‑alone project.


You could, in theory, stop after phase 1.  The problem with stopping after phase 1 is that you still have to address the PeopleSoft applications, which have to be replaced.


A lot of the SAP solution itself is a financial application.  So you're building sort of half of the solution, and then not taking advantage of it.  Phase 2 really takes advantage of the plumbing that we build in phase 1.


I use the analogy that we're building a house.  What we're really building here is the basement, plus all of the infrastructure associated with building the rest of the house.  You can stop at the basement level, but the benefits come very much from phase 2 and phase 3.


MR. RUPERT:  Now phase 3 -- I will just try to pull it up here.  Phase 3 is the customer care piece?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Phase 3 is the finance side of it, finance and HR.  Phase 4 is the customer care, a CIS application.


MR. RUPERT:  I take it that for phase 4 -- am I correct to assume that whatever it costs, virtually all of it will be attributed to the distribution business?


MR. STRUTHERS:  A substantial portion of it will be attributable to the distribution business, yes.


MR. RUPERT:  Because the IESO does your billing and transmission, and you have very few customers?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Part of the interesting question is where we get to with smart metering and the smart metering functionality and how that might impact some of the outage management, network management systems, but you're right, the bulk of it will relate to the distribution side.


MR. RUPERT:  So when you went ahead with your board on the approval for phase 1 and whatever discussion that took place on phase 2 and 3, given that this is a pretty -- you described a vanilla system.  They are potentially not going to do any customization.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's right.


MR. RUPERT:  Is it possible -- or do you go through what -- would Accenture help you go through what this would cost a comparable-sized utility to do anywhere in North America?  Is this number that we're giving here, $130 million -- 146 million, is that what it would cost most utilities to do this, or is yours more because of the heavy degree of change in your processes that is required?


MR. STRUTHERS:  When we sat down with Accenture and went through the costs through the discovery phase, they have an application that they use.  That application looks at the complexity of what's being done, the knowledge of the parties ‑ in our case with SAP ‑ a whole bunch of factors.  I think there are at least 200, if not more.


It's an application that they have developed based on their experience doing a number of these.  I think they use about 2000.  They update them every six months based on prior experience.  That produces, based on all of the various assumptions they put into it, effectively what it will cost in terms of number of days and hours and the cost structure.


We went through that process with them in great detail, because we were surprised at how much the costs had increased, as well.  We also went back and used CapGemini and Inergi to verify that those numbers made sense, that what Accenture was telling us was actually reasonable based on CapGemini and Inergi's experience doing the same thing in Europe.  


We also went back to SAP, asked them sort of whether these costs were in the ballpark, and we did also receive some ballpark estimates from other utilities, which are confidential.


So we had -- while we did spend quite a bit of time assessing the costs and what it was supposed to -- what it was going to cost and it made sense to cost.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  Earlier, in a response to a question from Ms. Girvan about risk management for the project --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. RUPERT:  -- you didn't say this, but I wanted to just check what you were trying to say what Accenture is.  Is Accenture working on a fixed fee here?  I wasn't sure I understood exactly the fee arrangement that you were getting at in your discussion about risk management.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Accenture is on a fixed fee.


MR. RUPERT:  Paid in full once the system is operational?


MR. STRUTHERS:  There is a holdback until we get what we expect.


MR. RUPERT:  Those are my questions, thanks.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Sommerville.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. McKellar, by way of clarification, do I understand it that the positions that the Society members migrated to is the subject of some form of proceeding in another forum?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, it is.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The compensation levels and the productivity issues were obviously a preoccupation of the Board in the last proceeding involving Hydro One.  


I wonder if I could get from you what you regard as the sort of key productivity indicia.  What is the ‑‑ what do you look to in order to assess whether you are getting the right kind of productivity gain from your workforce?  


Is there something in the evidence that I can look to, that gives me a very clear picture as to what you regard as the productivity gold standard?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, if I can have a minute.  


[Witness panel confers]  


MR. CARLETON:  If I can respond to that, is that okay?  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sure.  


MR. CARLETON:  There is one exhibit, C1 -- I believe it is.  Sorry, just give me a second.  C1, 4, 1, I believe.  Sorry.  C1, 4, 2, which talks about cost efficiencies.  


In there it goes through our process for cost efficiencies within this company that identifies right from our business planning process, we ask the lines of business to identify what initiatives they have on the way, what savings we can see.  That is reviewed as part of their business plan.  Then after the year, we go in and audit, go in and check to make sure they delivered what they promised.  So it really spans a variety of issues right now.  There is some unit metrics in there, but a lot of the focus and where we're going to get most of our efficiency gains are through initiatives that are really hard to cost-out.  


For instance, if we can put processes and use our systems to bundle outages together where we can take, let's say, three different pieces of work that may need to be done by lines and stations and put them into one outage, we can reduce our overall costs, reduce the impacts on customers.  You won't see that as a productivity savings.  So we're trying to measure those types of initiatives, where we're going to get the gains, efficiencies, how we can use Cornerstone, what new systems and processes can we use.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's the dilemma that the Board has here in looking at these budgets for Cornerstone and the HR budget, is trying to find something that tells us that this is directionally correct, that there is some productivity that we can look to in an empirical sense that supports these budgets.  That's our dilemma.  


As I look through the evidence -- I had read the evidence and I know that there are some pointers to some form of -- Mr. Struthers refers to, for example, We have a number of systems and they're coming to an end and -- but when I look for empirical data that demonstrates how this cost benefit, how we can look at this cost benefit analysis and say, Yeah, that amount of money makes sense to spend in this time frame, it's somewhat elusive.  


Can you comment on that?  


MR. CARLETON:  Yes, it is.  We, in fact, have been looking for external metrics, what other utilities do through CIGRE; we have been asking them, do they have any metrics.  We do have a survey going on across CIGRE.  All the transmission companies that are willing to participate, do you have metrics in there. 


At this point, we haven't found any.  A lot of the companies, in fact, don't do the level of reporting that we do on cost efficiencies, on efficiency initiatives, on metrics.  We just -- it's been elusive to us, as well.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  I have one question and it is back to Cornerstone and it I guess takes the same path of the other questions you've had.  


Mr. Struthers, was a net present value done of the Cornerstone project, either phase 1 or the entire project?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  There was a net present value calculation done on phase 1, yes.  


MS. NOWINA:  Could we take -- could we see that, could we have that as an undertaking?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  We can provide that for you, yes.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thanks.  


MS. LEA:  K5.9.


UNDERTAKING NO. K5.9:  TO PROVIDE NET PRESENT VALUE 

OF THE CORNERSTONE PHASE 1 PROJECT


MS. NOWINA:  Those are our questions.  Thank you very much, panel.  We will break now for lunch and return at 1:15 where we will begin with panel 4.  


Oh, Mr. Rogers, I'm sorry I forgot your redirect.  


MR. ROGERS:  I appreciate the courtesy, but I have none.  


MS. NOWINA:  We will break until 1:15.  


--- Luncheon recess taken at 11:57 a.m.


--- On resuming at 1:17 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Just before we begin with panel 4, Board Staff tells me, Mr. Rogers, that you have agreed that if there are any questions that parties want to make regarding the deferral account, the 2007 revenue deficiency deferral account, they can make those -- take those questions at the end of this panel?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes?  All right.  So we will have that as the last item of the issues being addressed by this panel.


MR. ROGERS:  We have just appointed Mr. Innis to be the expert on that topic, so that's fine.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Any preliminary matters before we start?  None?  


Mr. Rogers, do you want to introduce the panel?


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  May I introduce the members of panel 4?  There is Mr. William Paolucci, Mr. Ian Innis and Dr. Andy Poray.  Could the witnesses be sworn, please.


HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 4


Ian Innis, Sworn


William Paolucci, Sworn

Andy Poray, Sworn

EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. ROGERS:

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Paolucci, could I start with you, please, sir?  I understand that you hold a Bachelor of Applied Science in industrial engineering from the University of Toronto?


MR. PAOLUCCI:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You also hold a Master's of Business Administration degree from York University.


MR. PAOLUCCI:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And you are a chartered financial analyst, having completed successfully the CFA Institute course in Charlesville, Virginia.


MR. PAOLUCCI:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You have worked with Ontario Hydro or its predecessor company since about 1988, I believe?


MR. PAOLUCCI:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  In various financial planning and financial functions in the company?


MR. PAOLUCCI:  That's right.


MR. ROGERS:  You now hold the position of assistant treasurer of the treasury division?


MR. PAOLUCCI:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You've had that position since 1998.


MR. PAOLUCCI:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Can you tell us, briefly, what areas of the evidence you will respond to.


MR. PAOLUCCI:  I will be addressing the areas of cost of debt and preference shares.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Has the evidence that has been filed in this case on those topics been vetted by you and can you attest to its accuracy, so far as you are aware?


MR. PAOLUCCI:  Yes, I can.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.


By the way, this is your first time testifying before this Board, I believe?


MR. PAOLUCCI:  Yes, it is.


MS. NOWINA:  Welcome.  You will really enjoy it.


[Laughter]


MR. ROGERS:  He has been told.


Mr. Innis, you have been here before?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I have.


MR. ROGERS:  And your curriculum vitae has been filed as Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 2.  Generally, can you say this is an accurate reflection of your experience?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, it is.


MR. ROGERS:  Very briefly, I understand, sir, that you hold a Bachelor of Commerce degree from McMaster University.


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I do.


MR. ROGERS:  You are a member of the Society of Management Accountants?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  You have worked with the Ontario Hydro in various capacities since 1988?


MR. INNIS:  Correct.  Sorry, 1980.


MR. ROGERS:  I'm sorry, 1980.  Presently you are the director, corporate planning and regulatory finance, acting, corporate finance.


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Prior to that, you were manager of regulatory finance in corporate finance?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  What areas of the evidence will you be addressing?


MR. INNIS:  I'll be prepared to discuss evidence relating to supply mix capital, earnings sharing mechanism and regulatory assets.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.  Can you confirm for us that the evidence filed in this case, in support of those topics, is accurate so far as you are aware?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I can confirm that.


MR. ROGERS:  Moving to you, Dr. Poray; you, I know, hold a Bachelor of Science and electrical engineering degree from the University of Strathclyde?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You have a doctorate degree from that same university in electrical engineering?


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You have worked with -- in the electrical industry your entire career in one form or another?


DR. PORAY:  That is true.


MR. ROGERS:  And have worked with Ontario Hydro or its predecessor company since 1977?


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You presently hold the position of director, regulatory policy and support in the company?


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.


MR. ROGERS:  What areas of the evidence will you be addressing, Dr. Poray?


DR. PORAY:  I will be specifically addressing the evidence at Exhibit A, tab 13, schedules 1 through 4, which deals with the transmission revenue requirement adjustment mechanism.


MR. ROGERS:  All right, thank you.  Can you confirm for us that the evidence on that topic has been prepared under your direction and control and you believe it to be an accurate reflection of the company's affairs and proposals?


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Madam Chairman, what I proposed to do was to begin -- this being the first part of panel 4, the first topic is the revenue requirement adjustment mechanism, and with the Board's leave, I would like to spend a few minutes with Dr. Poray and just go through the proposal, as I think there is some confusion as to just how it is proposed to work.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  We would appreciate that, Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.


Now, Dr. Poray, I would like you, please, if you could, just summarize for us, what general areas will you be dealing with with this revenue requirement adjustment mechanism.


DR. PORAY:  There are five areas that I would like to address.  The first one is why Hydro One is proposing the revenue requirement adjustment mechanism.  Secondly, I would like to clarify the treatment of capital in‑service additions within the context of the revenue requirement adjustment mechanism.  


Thirdly, I would like to briefly explain why asset aging was included in the adjustment mechanism and why it is an important consideration for Hydro One.  


Fourthly, I would like to clarify what Hydro One is requesting from the Board in this submission, in terms of the approvals with respect to the revenue requirement adjustment mechanism.  


And, finally, I would like to clarify what Hydro One will submit to support its request for approval to the adjustment in revenue requirement in each of 2009 and 2010.


MR. ROGERS:  Just very briefly, before we go on.  


As I understand this adjustment mechanism, it is proposed that once the Board decides this case, revenue requirement will be established for 2007 and 2008.  The company then proposes, as part of the adjustment mechanism, that rather than coming back for a full cost-of-service hearing for 2009 and 2010, it will come before the Board in a more abbreviated process to provide it with information so that the adjustment mechanism can be applied.


DR. PORAY:  Can be approved; that is correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Now, we're going to go through this fairly slowly so that we can all follow it.


First of all, can you tell me, why is the company proposing an adjustment mechanism like this, in this particular case?


DR. PORAY:  The reason why we are proposing this, what we feel is an innovative approach for adjusting revenue requirement without a detailed cost of service, is really to streamline the 2009 and 2010 regulatory process for approving the transmission revenue requirement, that appropriately balances the interests of the Board, the intervenors and Hydro One without undermining the regulatory process.  


We have just been or are still going through and will have been through a detailed cost-of-service review in respect of the 2007 and 2008 revenue requirement, and Hydro One is concerned that a return for another detailed cost of service in 2009 and 2010 would divert management's attention from concentrating on the heavy workload which is envisaged during that period.


The Hydro One proposed revenue requirement adjustment mechanism is a mechanical adjustment mechanism that provides a simple and transparent means of adjusting the revenue requirement components that calculate the respective 2009 and 2010 transmission revenue requirement and that will be approved by the Board through a due process.


Hydro One's proposed adjustment mechanism does not in any way reduce the regulatory oversight, in the sense that it short-changes, in any way, the Board's ability to approve the revenue requirement levels for 2009 and 2010 or to review and approve the capital in‑service additions that underpin the expenditures that require the increase in the revenue requirement in those years.  


MR. ROGERS:  We should stop there, to observe, for my benefit, that one of the features of the adjustment mechanism which you propose is that capital additions, in subsequent years, 2009 and 2010, will be taken into account in the adjustment mechanism.  


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.  


MR. ROGERS:  And we'll come to this later, but it is the company's proposal that those additions, in 2009 and 2010, will be brought before the Board for review and approval as to the level of expenditure before they are included in the formula; is that correct?  


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.  


MR. ROGERS:  We'll come back to that, but that is an important point.  


How does this proposal relate to the Board's second-generation IRM for electrical distributors?  And the proposals being considered for the natural gas IRM?  


DR. PORAY:  It is directionally consistent with what the Board has approved for the electricity distributors, in the sense that there is an adjustment formula in that mechanism which adjusts, in that particular case, the rates, the distribution rates.  And it's very similar in the form that is being discussed for the natural gas.  


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you.  Now, we talked a moment ago about capital expenditures.  We've heard a lot in this case about capital expenditures and the levels of capital expenditures.  


How does Hydro One propose to account for capital expenditures in the context of your revenue requirement adjustment mechanism for 2009 and 2010?  


DR. PORAY:  First of all, I would like to set the context for this discussion, because there's already been a fair amount of discussion on capital, and particularly development capital.  


What was discussed during panel 2 dealt specifically in terms of four categories of development capital that were summarized in Exhibit L, tab 2, schedule 1, and these were for projects that were what I would term major transmission projects, for which Hydro One is seeking some assurance of sensibility of undertaking.  But these projects did not include all of the development projects that are included in the summary of the evidence which was filed by Hydro One under Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 3.  


The revenue requirement adjustment mechanism deals with all of the development capital projects.  


And so going from there, there are really four components of the capital expenditures which I hope will clarify how these will be treated as part of the revenue requirement adjustment mechanism.  


The first is the sustainment and operations.  This is the non-development capital.  The second category is the non-IPSP development capital, and this would include the category 2 and category 3 development capital projects that were listed in Exhibit L, tab 2, schedule 1.  The third category are the IPSP-related development capital projects, and these would include category 4 projects that were listed in Exhibit L, tab 2, schedule 1.  Finally, the fourth is the supply mix-related capital.  


Now, one of the aims of the revenue requirement adjustment model is to adjust the rate base in the 2009 and 2010 period to appropriately reflect the in-service additions made during that period.  In general, the in-service additions may reflect project cash flows that were established as part of the 2007 and 2008 submission, or projects that are started in 2009 and 2010 and placed in service in those years respectively.  


MR. ROGERS:  If I could stop you there.  So the proposal, I take it, is that capital additions in 2009 and 2010 would be incorporated in the adjustment mechanism, but those -- am I right that those capital additions, that are in service, those are in service, the type of capital additions would form part of the rate base in a full cost-of-service hearing?


DR. PORAY:  That is correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  Are there other categories here that we have talked about that relate to the supply mix, for example, which the company is proposing be included in rate base even though those projects are not yet in service?  


DR. PORAY:  That is correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  But the operation of the formula could operate quite independent of the Board's decision with respect to those supply-mix additions, could it not?  


DR. PORAY:  Yes, it would. 


MR. ROGERS:  Sorry to interrupt you.  Carry on.  


DR. PORAY:  So if we look at, now, the four categories of projects and how they would be treated, the first pertains to the sustainment and operations capital expenditure, so that increment of sustainment an operations capital expenditure for 2009 over 2008 will be calculated using the mechanical adjustment model, which takes the respective 2008 values and adjusts those by inflation, productivity and the net capital asset-aging factor.  


The rate base for 2009 would reflect the 2008 end-of-year rate base value, and the 2009 in-service additions associated with the level of the adjusted sustainment and operations capital in 2009, and this would be done in accordance with standard accounting practices which employ the mid-year rule. 


MR. ROGERS:  Is one of the features of this proposal is that it does differ from what's proposed in the gas industry and in the distribution – well, I guess it was proposed in distribution, but this element of the capital, that's one of the unique features of your proposal?  


DR. PORAY:  That's right.  What we're trying to do is put on an adjustment factor that deals with the capital and takes -- and recognizes the in-service additions in the year in which the adjustments are being made. 


MR. ROGERS:  So the formula takes into account inflation, less productivity gains, but then adds in capital additions?  Is that right?  


DR. PORAY:  Well, it doesn't add the capital addition.  It has an adjustment factor for recognizing the capital.  


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you. 


DR. PORAY:  And that we term as part of the asset aging, the need to increase the sustainment and operation by this mechanism, to account for the fact that there's additional work that needs to be done as a result of the aging of the assets. 


MR. ROGERS:  We will come to the asset aging again in this discourse shortly.  


MR. RUPERT:  Dr. Poray, can I ask one question to clarify before we move on to the next category.  You referred to the sustainment in operations here, but as I read your evidence before, the base from which you're starting also includes the shared services capital expenditures in 2008, and you just referred to sustaining and operations.  As I read your material, the base you're starting from as you escalated also includes the shared services capital which, among other things, includes the Cornerstone project.  Did I read that wrong?  


DR. PORAY:  No, it would include that.  It would be added in after the adjustment is made to the base sustainment and operations.  


MR. RUPERT:  Okay, I will come back later.  I'm not quite sure I follow.  


DR. PORAY:  Okay.  The next category of development capital is the non-IPSP related development capital expenditures, and these may involve either section 92 projects, and these would typically involve line constructions over two kilometres of length, or non-section 92 projects, which may involve station construction-type projects.  


In either case, Hydro One will provide the relevant information concerning capital projects that go into service in 2009, some of which capital expenditures will be examined as part of the section 92 proceedings, and some of which would be examined as part of the proceeding associated with the approval of the 2009 revenue requirement.  


Hydro One would propose to adjust the rate base to reflect the 2009 in-service additions for these types of projects in accordance with the standard accounting practices.  


MR. ROGERS:  So that the capital that was subject to a section 92 application would receive the Board's approval through that process?  And capital which did not qualify for a section 92 application would be brought before the Board for approval as to, I suppose, prudence and level of expenditure before it being incorporated into your formula?  


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.  The third category of development capital is around the IPSP, and those projects, which are relevant for 2009 would include -- would be included in the Board approved IPSP, and the in-service additions planned for 2009 would be included in the rate base in accordance with standard accounting procedures.  


Finally, the supply mix projects in 2009 would be treated as in-service additions and will be added to the rate base as spent-in-year costs, consistent with Hydro One's request for such treatment in this proceeding.  


In this case, the assumption is that 100 percent of the capital expenditures for those projects will be included in the 2009 rate base.


So the revenue requirement adjustment mechanism attempts to account for the range of capital expenditures that reflect the work programs which Hydro One expects will continue during the 2009 and 2010 period, and as a result of which there will need to be adjustments to Hydro One's transmission rate base.


MR. ROGERS:  All right, thank you.


Now, Dr. Poray, I know you've been following the proceedings and you're aware that there has been some discussion, considerable discussion, about the aging of Hydro One's transmission assets, and I want to stop here.


Your formula takes into account -- in fact, as I understand it, one of the reasons you want this mechanism to include capital is because of the aging condition of your assets?


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Questions have been asked, and I recall one from Mr. Rupert in particular, about a graph, and in fact we have an open undertaking which we're working on to provide further guidance as to -- to demonstrate the aging process that is going on in the company.  


Are you able to help us with that now, to show us ‑‑ is there some evidence that you can help us understand the rate of aging of your assets?


DR. PORAY:  Yes, there is.


Our analysis suggests that asset aging drives higher costs and that aging of assets is a concern, and that is why we have included the concept of the asset-aging factors into the revenue requirement adjustment mechanism.


Now, in order to perhaps better explain or shed some more light on this, I would like to refer you to the interrogatory response J5.14.


MR. ROGERS:  Now, I believe we're going to need the table, which is found ‑‑ I guess it is attachment A.  Are you going to refer us to that, Dr. Poray?


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Just to set the context here, there was evidence before about certain graphs that had been filed in evidence, which were really a snapshot of the company's assets at a particular point in time.


Does this table help us understand the rate of aging of the assets, and, if so, can you walk us through this to show us how that is so?


DR. PORAY:  Certainly.  What's presented in this table are sets of data for two snapshots.  One ‑‑ the first five columns pertain to the 2005 vintage.  So this is a snapshot of Hydro One's transmission assets as of December 1st, 2005.


Then the next five columns represent the information, again as a snapshot, as of December 31st, 2000.  So we now have two sets of data, which are separated by a five‑year period, and what we present in this information is the asset age.  So the assets are grouped by age categories, and there is a percentage quantity.  So this would be the number of assets in a particular age group.


So, for instance, if we look on the first line, in the first five columns - this is pertaining to December 31st, 2005 data - we see that there are some 15.09 percent of transmission assets which, at that time, were 55 years, at least 55 years old.


MR. RUPERT:  Can I ask you a question.  What is the common denominator that is used to make wires and transformers and steel towers the same?  Is it book value?  Is that book value?  


In order to say it is 15 percent of the total when you have this disparate group of all of these assets, presumably you need some way of measuring them all on a common basis.  Is it dollars of rate base, or what is it?


DR. PORAY:  I think this is just a quantity, the number of assets that reflect the actual age.


MR. RUPERT:  It's all transmission assets?  It is transformers, towers?


DR. PORAY:  These are all of the transmission assets, so these would be circuit breakers, transformers, switches, bus bars, lines, towers, everything.


MS. NOWINA:  And it's numbers, not value?


DR. PORAY:  Yes, these are numbers.  This information came from the fixed asset, Hydro One's fixed asset system.


MR. RUPERT:  So a steel tower that is 50 years old at this date and a small transformer that is 50 years old, those would both be considered one asset for purposes of this calculation?


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.


MR. RUPERT:  Thank you.


DR. PORAY:  Okay.  So, if we look at ‑‑ so what we looked at is the first line, which says that there would be 15.09 percent of assets as of December 31st, 2005 which were 55 years or older.


Now, we could take a snapshot look and -- say, to try and compare the two sets of data, and let's, for example, choose assets which are 35 years or older.


So if we look at column 3, and the ninth line down shows the 2005 vintage asset age to be 35 and we know ‑‑ and we look over two columns to the right.  We see that the cumulative asset percentage for assets that are 35 years or older is just under 42 percent.


If we now go over to the 2000 data -- and we have to go a little bit higher in that table, because remember the data is now five years younger.  So the fourth row from the top, we find that the number 35.  So this would be in the eighth column.  If we look across two columns over to the right, we will see that the cumulative asset percentage is 31.52.  


So that means that there were 31.52 percent of transmission assets that were 35 years or older at that point in time.


If we now compare that to the first figure which we examined for 2005, we see that there is a difference from 41.99 percent down to 31.52 percent, some 10.4 percentage points' difference, showing that the data in 2005 shows that the assets have, in fact, aged.


Now, if we go through the whole exercise and compare that data, we find that at the bottom of the page, in the right‑hand side, we have produced two numbers, a five-year average and an annual average rate of asset aging.  And you will see that the five-year average is 1.171, which means that the assets are aging at a rate of 17.1 percent over the five-year period, and then the next line shows that the annual average is 1.032 or 3.2 percent.


So based on the information that is presented in this table, we conclude that the transmission assets are aging at an average rate of 3.2 percent per year.


MR. RUPERT:  Can I just confirm, as well, this was a table, in fact, that I think I had asked a question on earlier, Mr. Rogers?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. RUPERT:  I think when I asked the question before, I think Mr. Penstone wasn't sure, and he was going to check.  It sounds like you have the answer now.  The question I had before, which came up because some other data was described this way, was asked because of the statement made that the company does not have access to asset-aging information at various past dates nor did it keep it around.


And so the discussion we had before was the fact we had one database essentially today or the year 2005, and you can go back and cut it various ways, but the fact is you couldn't ever go back and replicate the actual population of assets at a past date.  The information was gone.  All you had was December 2005 information.  


It sounds like you're saying, in fact, the December 31, 2000 data here is actually taken from a real inventory of assets that was done as of December 31, 2000 and wasn't just culling data out of a five year later inventory.  Do you see what I mean?  There was actually a snapshot as of that date which would include all assets in operation, as opposed to relying solely on the single snapshot at the end of 2005.  


DR. PORAY:  Excuse me for a minute.  


[Witness panel confers]  


DR. PORAY:  As I mentioned, this information is obtained from our fixed asset database.  And my understanding -- and I have just confirmed that with Mr. Innis, is that it is done on a rolling basis. 


So we have had the information as of 2000, but I don't think at this point in time we could go back and recreate that information.  


MR. RUPERT:  My question would be, for the year 2000, presumably there were lots of other older assets that would have existed and been in operation in 2000 which would have since been retired by 2005; right?  


DR. PORAY:  That's correct. 


MR. RUPERT:  So the 2000 data on this chart would include all of those older assets that were in operation in the year 2000 that have since been taken out of service?  


DR. PORAY:  That is correct. 


MR. RUPERT:  Okay, thanks.  


MR. ROGERS:  Now, just before you leave this table.  You referred us to the two figures at the bottom right-hand corner, and I see the annual average is 1.032, which I think you said is around three percent a year?  


DR. PORAY:  Three point two percent, yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  The five-year average now.  That's 17.1 percent?
 


DR. PORAY:  That is correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  Does that mean that over the -- that over the five-year period between 2000 and 2005, the assets were aging at 17.1 percent a year. 


DR. PORAY:  No, no.  It is over the five-year period. 


MR. ROGERS:  Cumulative. 


DR. PORAY:  It is cumulative, yes.  Then the 3 point is really the fifth root of that. 


MR. ROGERS:  I see, thank you.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Poray, what am I to glean from the column that is headed "The Cumulative Asset Percentage, 2005 versus 2000"?  What does that column signify?  


DR. PORAY:  What that column signifies is the difference for each age group between 2005 and 2000.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Uh-huh. 


DR. PORAY:  Okay.  So if you were to look at the respective -- for instance, if you look at the first one, 55, then obviously in 2000, we didn't have any assets that were 55 years old, or at least that weren't recorded here.  


So if you look at 50 years old, we have that information for both snapshots.  So the difference between the 2000 data, which shows that we had 15.6 percent of assets which were 50 years or older, if we now go over to the fifth column, in other words, go over left to the fifth column, the similar number for the 50-year age asset group in the 2005 data is now 22.05.  


The difference between -- the differences is really shown in that cumulative asset percentage column.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  There are a variety of numbers, but there appear to be some pockets that have -- take a look across from the cumulative asset age of 20, for example.  There is 4.35 percent, 2.17, 2.22, and there is a cluster of low numbers there.  Why would that happen?  Does that mean there were a bunch of -- there's a bunch of equipment purchased in that period?  


DR. PORAY:  What that indicates is that the age difference between the two sets of assets is a lot lower.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.  So that means there was a -- there was a replenishing of the stock?  


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Dr. Poray, if that's about all you can tell us about that table -- 


DR. PORAY:  That was my intention, yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.  I hope that helps.  We will still honour the undertaking that was given, however.  


Now, Dr. Poray, I would like you to help us, please, understand what exactly it is that the applicant requests the Board to approve with respect to this revenue requirement adjustment mechanism in this case.  What do you want the Board to do?  


DR. PORAY:  Okay.  First of all, we want the Board to approve the concept behind the revenue requirement adjustment mechanism, that is to say the mechanical adjustment mechanism that uses inflation, productivity and asset-aging adjustment factors to calculate the respective increments in OM&A and capital cost components for 2009 and 2010, starting from the Board-approved values.  


Secondly, we want the Board to approve the concept behind the derivation of the asset-aging factors, which is based on Board-approved information that Hydro One filed as part of the current proceeding.  


Thirdly, we want the Board to approve the setting of a constant productivity factor at one percent for the 2009 and 2010 period.  


Fourth, we would want the Board to approve the treatment of capital development costs as we've outlined previously.  


Now, just as a general observation, Hydro One has proposed in its evidence at section 6 of Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 1, a possible set of implementation steps that could form the basis of a due process for approving Hydro One's 2009 and 2010 transmission revenue requirement.  


Now, we're not asking for approval for those steps and therefore these are not cast in stone, and Hydro One is more than willing to work with the Board and intervenors to develop a suitable process in respect of the revenue requirement adjustment mechanism.  


MR. ROGERS:  I take it from your comments just now that while the company has a specific proposal that it asks this Board to approve, it is the concept itself which is of paramount importance to the company?  And it is open to working with the Board Staff and intervenors as we move forward to modify or approve the formula that's being proposed?  


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.  


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Let me turn this around and ask you, what is it that Hydro One is not asking the Board to approve in this case?  


DR. PORAY:  We're not asking the Board to approve the value of the inflation factor.  Also, we're not asking the Board to approve the value of the OM&A and capital asset-aging factors, as these values will depend on the outcome of the Board's approval of Hydro One's 2007 and 2008 cost of service.  


Finally, we are not asking the Board to approve the methodology used to calculate the revenue requirement components in providing an illustrative example in Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 4.  


MR. ROGERS:  You provided an example, I take it at that Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 4.  But is it intended to be an example only and you're not asking anyone to approve that methodology?  


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.  


MR. ROGERS:  Now, finally, in outlining this proposal, I would like you to go over something we have already touched on and that is this:  What will Hydro One actually submit in support of its request for approvals for the 2009 and 2010 revenue requirement, if the Board accepts the general proposition of its proposal?  


DR. PORAY:  First of all, we will submit an inflation factor for the year of adjustment.  We would submit the OM&A and capital adjustment factors for approval for the year of adjustment.  We would submit the OM&A for the year of adjustment.  


We would also submit the capital project additions for the year of adjustment, and these would include the sustainment and operations in-service additions; the IPSP-related in-service additions; the non-IPSP-related in-service additions; and finally, the supply mix capital expenditures for the four projects identified in this proceeding, and any other projects included in the Board-approved IPSP.


We would submit the rate base for the year of adjustment; we would submit the calculation of the revenue requirement components for the year of adjustment; and finally, we will submit the total revenue requirement for the year of adjustment.


MR. ROGERS:  I know that you have an example in the evidence we talked about just a few moments ago as to how this could work or would work.


Can you just give us some idea, what's the time frame of the Board's scrutiny of this information that you have in mind?  I mean as opposed to a cost-of-service case like the one we're involved in.  What kind of time would be involved, do you believe?


DR. PORAY:  Well, we outlined in section 6 of Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 1 a number of steps which began in June of 2008, and it would culminate with a Board approval of revenue requirement in rates in December of 2008.  


So we were looking at a six-month period during which there would be several opportunities for submissions and workshops or special events where this information could be examined.


MR. ROGERS:  And the company would intend to have the type of stakeholder process that it has followed in the past two rate cases, something similar to that, to inform its stakeholders and to get their input?


DR. PORAY:  Certainly we would work with the stakeholders, yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Then the information that you have outlined would be filed with the Board in a formal way for their scrutiny?


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.  We would envision that perhaps that could be in the form of a written proceeding, but there may be specific days that could be set aside to look at, say, for instance, the capital plan.


MR. ROGERS:  Depending on, I suppose, the reaction of stakeholders and the Board and Staff?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Dr. Poray, thank you very much.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  Ms. Campbell.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MS. CAMPBELL:

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  I'm going to spend most of my time obviously on Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 1, pages 1 to 28, to try to see if I can get a little bit more clarity concerning what we're talking about here.


What emerged from your evidence, Dr. Poray, at least some of it ‑ I can't pretend to certainly have wrapped my mind around all of it, but some of it - it strikes me that the chief reason that Hydro One is requesting the IRM is because of, for lack of a better word, a heavy workload in 2009-2010, because of the capital projects that you anticipate coming out of the IPSP, plus non‑IPSP related projects.  Am I correct?  Did I understand that correctly?


DR. PORAY:  It is correct, in the sense that we're trying to streamline the approval process for those two years, given the fact that we have such a heavy workload.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And so that is the chief reason?  Because when I looked at your evidence, there were a number of reasons given at the front, and, specifically, just to take you to your evidence, not to diminish it in any sense, but there were a number of reasons given on page 2, and that is Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 1, and many of them had to do with regulatory efficiency, bringing into alignment the timing of subsequent distribution in transmission rate hearings.


And the predominant factor I heard from you was really the anticipated workload.


DR. PORAY:  That is a key factor within the context of all of those other things happening, as well.


MS. CAMPBELL:  It's the key factor.  Thank you.


In the materials that you filed - "you" being Hydro One, not you personally, Dr. Poray ‑ you went through a review of various multi‑year regulation ‑‑ let me just rephrase that. 


You went through a series of -- looked at a series of countries that use different kinds of performance‑based rate-making, and you started off with European jurisdictions, then you moved to Australia and United Kingdom.  And then we ended up with a third type, which was a hybrid, which is Fortis BC.


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  When I read ‑‑ again, I don't pretend to have comprehended it fully, but when I read the proposal that you are putting forward, it is markedly different than those that are covered in the first three groups.


DR. PORAY:  It is different in the context that some of the jurisdictions that we've reviewed have performance-based regulation, whereas what we're asking for approval here is not performance-based regulation.


However, all of the mechanisms that are involved in those regulatory mechanisms and all of the countries that we've reviewed do include automatic mechanical adjustments to either revenue requirement or rates.  So in that respect, what we're proposing here is very similar.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Right.  But I also understood, from reading everything else, that they have a great many more mechanisms and factors loaded in.


You have what I believe is called, in the VECC ‑‑ there is a VECC interrogatory, which is J5.9, and that was an interrogatory that elicited from Hydro One the statement that of all of the regulatory regimes that you looked at, the one that was closest was Fortis BC, which is J ‑‑ which is, sorry.  As I said, the interrogatory is J5.9.  And you went through and Hydro One was asked:  What are the similarities?  What are the differences?


One of the things that was stated in that was -- in that answer to the interrogatory was, and I am quoting here from page 2 of J5.9, specifically line 33:

"The Hydro One proposal is not a comprehensive PBR mechanism, but rather a simple adjustment mechanism that focuses on the recovery of costs associated with the need to maintain and expand its transmission infrastructure whilst at the same time attempting to minimize the regulatory burden.  The proposed mechanism can be viewed as a transitional step towards a more comprehensive incentive regulation time plan that will take time to evolve."


So it is clear that this is not a performance-based incentive mechanism.  The intent of this is just ‑‑ I don't mean to minimize it, but it is to deal, in the main, with cost recovery associated with the maintenance and expansion of the transmission infrastructure?


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Right.  So it is off -- in a way, it is off in an area of its own.


What you're suggesting is something that, if it's contrasted with the other regimes that you've put forward, it is ‑ again, I don't mean this in a pejorative sense ‑ quite simple.  Difficult for those of us to understand who don't have the mind that you possess, Dr. Poray, but simple in comparison to the PBR incentive regulation?


DR. PORAY:  If you like, it is one element of a more complex PBR mechanism.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  So you've cut away much of the other -- many of the other elements that surround the other regimes?


DR. PORAY:  We haven't considered them, no.


MS. CAMPBELL:  That's correct.  And staying with the J5.9 IR for a bit, you set out, in a series of interrogatories that were asked by Hydro ‑‑ I'm sorry, by Board Staff, there was a question out of all of the regimes, what was the most similar.


You indicated Fortis.  You were asked to point out the differences, and if I could take you to J5.9, page 2 and page 3, just to assist us in the context, Dr. Poray, can you describe the Fortis BC regime for us?


DR. PORAY:  The Fortis BC regime is a performance-based regulatory regime which relies on the use of an adjustment mechanism applied to the OM&A expenditure, and it uses factors, like inflation and productivity, to make those adjustments.  


Capital is treated separately.  There is no adjustment mechanism, per se, for the capital expenditures.  


The Fortis BC is required to file a capital plan, which is then examined by the Board and at the end of that examination, the revenue requirement is determined, taking into account the adjusted OM&A and the approved capital plan.  


There are also parts which deal with performance, specifically in terms of service quality indicators.  There is an earnings sharing mechanism which is put in place that relates to the company's ROE and how the -- how that is applied.
 So I would say that those were the main elements of the performance based mechanism, which is used at Fortis BC. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  If I look on page 3 of J5.9 in response to a question from Staff, you pointed out what the main differences were between Fortis and Hydro One.  


DR. PORAY:  This was in response to VECC interrogatory, yes.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, it was, yes.  


Could you just briefly describe the main differences.  


DR. PORAY:  Well, well, as noted on page 3, the first one pertains to a review of the load forecast, because Fortis BC is a vertically integrated utility; it also purchases power for its customers.  It also generates power, as well.  There is demand-side management, and Hydro One does not include those elements in its adjustment mechanism.  


The load forecast includes conservation and demand management and the load forecast would be factored into the 2009 rates.  


The second element, the capital expenditure plan, I think I already mentioned that they have a separate proceeding for that, and there is no automatic adjustment to the prior year's capital plan using the same type of formula.  


The third element was pension costs.  These are excluded from the base OM&A and they are treated as a separate item, whereas in Hydro One's case pension costs are part and parcel of the OM&A costs and are, therefore, adjusted through the adjustment formula.  


I already mentioned the ROE earnings-sharing mechanism and the demand-side management incentive mechanism, and that there is no comparable mechanism being provided in Hydro One's case, primarily because Hydro One's proposal is not a performance-based incentive proposal.  


The penultimate element, there are Z-factors which are included in the mechanism dealing with extraordinary items.  Hydro One did not propose a Z-factor, again because it's not a PBR-type adjustment mechanism.  


I would also -- in a way when we were formulating our adjustment mechanism, we tried to see if we could be consistent with what's going on in Ontario.  And in fact, the mechanism which has been adopted for the second generation IRM for distributors does not include Z-factors either.  It is a fairly simple adjustment mechanism.  


Then the final element are the performance standards that are included in the Fortis BC mechanism, which form part and parcel of the PBR mechanism.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  And this is the regime that you feel is closest to the one that you are being -- that is being proposed by Hydro One. 


DR. PORAY:  The reason that we chose Fortis BC is that is one of the regimes which uses adjustments to elements of revenue requirement.  So it doesn't adjust the whole revenue requirement through a mechanism, but it actually uses the elements.  So OM&A is adjusted by this mechanism which takes into account inflation and productivity and capital is being treated separately.  


So that was the reason why we felt that this was closer to what Hydro One was proposing.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  In Board Staff interrogatory J1.10, the question was posed whether or not Hydro One was aware of any jurisdiction that actually was using the IRM that you are proposing.  


And the answer was that Hydro One's not aware of any other jurisdiction that has implemented a plan similar to that proposed by Hydro One.  


DR. PORAY:  Yes.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Sorry, that is J1.10.  And the closest -- and you've given evidence on this, the closest one to it is Fortis BC.  


DR. PORAY:  That's what we said, yes. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  There is really no one doing exactly what Hydro One is proposing, is there?  This hasn't been done before, from my understanding.  


DR. PORAY:  Well, I would like to portray what Hydro One is doing as being fairly common, in terms of a mechanical adjustment mechanism.  


How the different factors play into it depends really on the jurisdiction that applies to that type of mechanism.  But if you look at performance based regulation in Australia, the UK, Netherlands, Norway, BC, they all use some form of mechanical adjustment to either the rates, which is price cap, or revenue, which is a revenue cap.  


So what we are proposing is very similar to what is used in other jurisdictions, but some of the factors that we are proposing are not the same as some of the factors that are being used in other jurisdictions.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  One of the key differences from the reading that I did, Dr. Poray, was that first of all, there was an extensive collection of data from sources other than just the applicant and, secondly, the data was accumulated over time, a significant amount of time from what I could perceive.  And then subject to significant analysis.  And that was the foundation for the creation of the PBR regime.  


And here, my understanding from what I can read here, -- and from what you've said, is Hydro One doesn't feel it has the time to create that.  And so what you're proposing is, I believe it is referred to at one point in time as a transitory mechanism.  


DR. PORAY:  Is that a question?  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  I think that's what you're proposing.  My point to you, sir, is the difference is yes, they have revenue caps, but they also have a regime that's built on the accumulation of a significant amount of data over time.  


So the superficial similarity, I believe, is there are revenue caps; but you would agree with me that you don't have the database that the other PBR regimes have in place?  


DR. PORAY:  The data that we have supports what we have submitted, in terms of the adjustment mechanism.  


The other jurisdictions which use the performance-based regulatory model have a much more intensive requirement for data, which involves the industry as a whole.  So for instance if we look at the UK or if we look at Australia, you're now looking at PBR which is applied to either all of the distributors or all of the transmitters in that particular jurisdiction.  Here what we've done is look at just Hydro One's revenue requirement, using an adjustment mechanism which is fairly simple, which is consistent with what's being done in Ontario for distribution and which doesn't require the sort of data that was used in other jurisdictions, because that's not the model that we're trying to put forward here.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  And actually, if you could turn up interrogatory J1.9.  Just following up on your point, Dr. Poray.


You were asked by Staff whether the Board should have any concerns about implementing Hydro One's proposal in absence of the data-gathering and analysis that takes place in the European multi-year regulatory model and takes place in Australia and the UK.  And a response was given by Hydro One.  Would you mind stating, on the record, what your response is to that question?  


DR. PORAY:  Do you want me to read the response?  


MS. CAMPBELL:  If you wish to paraphrase it or read it, it's fine with me.  I would just like to have it so I could discuss it with you.  


DR. PORAY:  The response that we provided was that:

"Hydro One believes that the Board need not have any concerns about implementing Hydro One's proposal, since the absence of data referred to in this interrogatory does not impact on the validity of the proposed adjustment mechanism.  The data gathering which is referred to in this interrogatory, in relation to the section of the evidence dealing with the European experience, is akin to a robust and sustainable incentive regulatory plan, and not a two-year transitional adjustment mechanism which is being proposed in the submission."


MS. CAMPBELL:  If I could stop you there, Dr. Poray --


DR. PORAY:  Sure.


MS. CAMPBELL:  -- and just ask you a question.  Just picking up on the language that is in that last sentence, there is a contrast between the robust and sustainable incentive regulatory plan and a two-year transitional adjustment mechanism.


Should the Board have any concerns about putting into place something that is transitory and not robust and sustainable?


DR. PORAY:  The reference to robust and sustainable was trying to capture the fact that these performance‑based regulatory mechanisms have been in place for quite a number of years and have been evolving over a period of time, and they tend to deal with a much larger collection of issues than what we're trying to address here.


For example, they're dealing with service quality and performance and those sort of things.


The whole point behind Hydro One's submission is that it is a mechanism which is relatively simple.  It is developed on the basis of the best information that is available at this point in time, which Hydro One has submitted as part of its complete evidence, and, therefore, the Board has all of the information available to make a decision in that respect.


And the reference to the transitory, it's directionally consistent with the transitory mechanism which was put in place for the distributors, and it was called the second generation IRM.


So that was the context in which we were trying to put this.


MS. CAMPBELL:  In the evidence, there was a reference to Hydro One looking forward and talking about being able to put in place the more robust, sustainable PBR type regime post 2010.


And I guess my question to you is:  Why does Hydro One think it to be necessary that you move so quickly, when with a couple of years, you could build a database and perform the analysis that seems to have been done in the other regimes?


DR. PORAY:  Well, as we said at the outset, the reason why Hydro One has brought this forward is to deal with an issue of very considerable workload in the year 2009 and 2010 and being able to focus on that workload, at the same time not trying to undermine the regulatory process.


So what we tried to do with this proposal is to come forward with something that is reasonably straightforward, it's streamlined, and there will be a due process associated with that.


The reason why we think it is also valuable is it gives experience in terms of how adjustment mechanisms work.


We already have ‑‑ we're on Board with the distribution sector, in terms of an adjustment mechanism.  We started this year.  We adjusted the 2007 rates by that mechanism.  We will do so over 2008 and 2009.


And given that the Board has embarked on incentive regulation in the electricity sector, we feel that eventually it would get to transmission, as well, and we thought this would be a useful experience.


MS. CAMPBELL:  You have repeated, again, that it is the workload that you're worried about in 2009 and 2010.  What if that workload continues?  Is it going to be Hydro One's position they're going to come back at a later date and say, We would like to have this continued, because, again, we are very busy with these capital projects, so we really would prefer not to have a cost-of-service hearing in 2011 and 2012?  I'm just trying to figure the future.  


If we go up to the 2010 window and the reason for putting this in place is because of a heavy capital project workload, what happens if that continues?  Is it Hydro One's intention to continue with the transitory IRM?


DR. PORAY:  Hydro One's view is that the reason why we chose the two‑year was to deal with the workload, but also bearing in mind that the Board and the intervenors wanted to ‑‑ should I continue?


MS. CAMPBELL:  I apologize.  We just noticed the "on air" sign went off again.  I apologize, Dr. Poray.  Please continue.


DR. PORAY:  Okay.  One of the things that we bear in mind is that both the Board and the intervenors want to see Hydro One submit a joint transmission and distribution cost of service.  They have indicated that to us, and we thought that this two‑year period would take us through to that point in time at which we could submit a joint transmission and distribution cost of service.


So in 2010, if the workload continues, we'll certainly continue to do the work, but it is our intention that around that time we would file a joint transmission and distribution cost of service.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  I may well regret this, but I'm going to ask you a few questions about the calculation, Dr. Poray.  I see Mr. Rogers grinning.


MR. ROGERS:  I might enjoy this immensely.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Is that a warning?


MR. ROGERS:  I will learn along with you.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 4, page 1 of 4.  Now, we've got 1.1 is the calculation ‑‑


DR. PORAY:  Can you just hang on for a second?  I haven't got there yet.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I'm sorry.  Please go ahead.


DR. PORAY:  All right, I'm there.


MR. ROGERS:  Dr. Poray, these are the illustrations that you told us in chief were illustrative only?


DR. PORAY:  This is an illustrative example that we provided, yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  You have touched on the asset-aging factor and you indicated it is very important to Hydro One in your evidence-in‑chief.  And my understanding is it's very important because you've got a lot of assets that are getting older and you need to ensure that whatever factor is in place reflects that.  Am I correct in my interpretation of your evidence, Doctor?


DR. PORAY:  Yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  When I looked at the calculation with, of course, great assistance from Mr. Davies, who actually sort of understands it, one of the things that we were both struck by, once of course I had it explained to me, was the significance of the factor -- the asset-aging factor.


I appreciate from your evidence that that 5.2 percent is not what you're seeking approval of.  You're seeking approval of the mechanism; am I correct?


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  So that could be 5.2 percent, or, if you're really lucky, it could be 11.9 percent, but it's just a number for the purposes we're looking at the mechanics of it; right?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. RUPERT:  Sorry, I want to make sure I understand this questioning; it's just a number.  I interpreted this to be the numbers you would get if you were to do the calculation today, but obviously you're not.  You will do it two years from now, but that the actual methodology that underpins the number is the methodology you're proposing to use in the future.


DR. PORAY:  We're seeking approval of the methodology, yes.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay, fine.  So the methodology ‑‑ it's just the actual number itself is based on current information, but we don't know the future.  Earlier, Mr. Rogers, I think you said that methodology was off the table, too, but I think in fact you're asking for approval of the methodology, aren't they?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  If I said that, I didn't mean to.  The methodology is -- we're asking the Board to approve the methodology, yes.


MR. RUPERT:  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  What I did say was that they're open to suggestions, I think, but this is what is proposed as the methodology.


MS. NOWINA:  This is just an example, but the factor of 5.20 is based on an actual calculation and actual numbers at this point, is that right, the methodology you are proposing?


DR. PORAY:  The number that is presented here is based on the information that has been filed.  It could change if the Board changes its ‑‑ in its decision it changes some of the numbers, yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Looking at ‑‑ first of all, starting with the adjusted OM&A revenue component.  We have already discussed, very briefly, the asset-aging factor, which is 5.20.  The table for that factor is found at schedule 2, page 4.  


I am just going to ask you to turn that up.  It's actually 5.19.  And I know, from looking at the very bottom of that table, that the 5.19 factor, the asset-aging factor that appears on schedule 4, page 1 in the calculation for the adjusted OM&A revenue component, is derived from that table.  


I also can understand that it is the most significant part of the equation in the calculation, both for the new OM&A and both for the capital additions revenue component.  So it is clear that that's the most significant component of the calculation, the asset-aging factor.  And it is really driving the number, driving the new OM&A number, whatever it might be, with whatever numbers you used.  


And what I would appreciate if you could walk me through the means by which you got to that number, which is 5.19.  


DR. PORAY:  Certainly.  So, if we look at Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 2, page 4 -- 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes. 


DR. PORAY:  That is table 2 that we're looking at.  What we did here – first of all in line 1 of that table, we show the sustainment, development and operations OM&A, which is really lifted out of the information which is presented in table 1 on page 1 of that exhibit.  I don't think you need to turn it up.  It's there and the numbers reflect those numbers.  


So first of all, what we wanted to do was, we wanted to strip-out, in deriving the factor, we wanted to strip out the impact of inflations and cost escalators.  And you will see in line 2 on that table the cost savings for 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008 and this is exactly the information which has already been covered I believe in panel 1, and Mr. George Carleton spoke to that.  So these are the cost savings which Hydro One has achieved and expects to achieve in the test years.  


The next row, row 3, represents the cost escalators.  This is the transmission OM&A, the consumer price index and the labour escalation.  And I believe that some of that has already also been discussed at an earlier panel with Mr. Carleton.  


So what we now have is a composite cost escalator and a productivity factor which we can then apply to try and remove the impact of inflation and productivity.  


So if we go to line 5, and we will start in 2003.  So we assume it is the same SD&O - sustainment, development and operations - OM&A.  We then inflate that by the composite cost escalator and we subtract the effect of the cost savings for 2004, which is 4.9.  We arrive at an SDO-adjusted OM&A of 183.2 million for 2004.  


So this now reflects the fact that we've stripped out a year's worth of inflation, plus a year's worth of productivity.  And we continue to do that for 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008.  So on row 5, you have the OM&A figures which are net of inflation and cost escalators -- and productivity.  


If you now take the difference between those values in row 5, and the value in row 1, you will have a residual amount which varies in each year.  And what we see in here, it is in fact increasing in number, starting off in 25.2 in 2004 and ending up in 53.5 million in 2008.  


So this we deem now to be a measure of the costs, the growth and costs as a result of the work that needs to be done to maintain the assets from the point of view of reliability and providing service to our customers.  If you like, we call that the asset-aging factor.  But perhaps it is a bit broader than that.  It really measures the work that is done to mitigate the deterioration in the performance of the assets as a result of the assets getting older.  


So we've arrived at this residual amount.  So we take the -- and this is the cumulative amount, obviously.  So we take the number, the 53.5, and we divide that by the -- there's a -- we divide that by the 2003 SDO, the 185.7.  And then we take the fifth root of that, and that gives us the compound annual average percentage change which is the 5.19.  


There is a formula for that calculation on the previous page in the footnote.  This is page 3 of Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 2.  There is a footnote 5 there, and it shows how that compound average change is calculated using the data in the tables.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  In this table, you show the years 2003 onward.  If you come in let's suppose next year or the year after that, will you be using the same years or will you be moving forward in the years that you've used?  


DR. PORAY:  You could use the same years and just build up the data so you now have a longer period of time over which you do the assessment.  


So for example, when we come forward in 2008, we may have the 2007 actuals which might then help us to see whether there is any change and whether that factor needs to be recalculated.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Then if you go back to Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 4, which is the calculation itself, that 5.20 is the key multiplier.  It is not the only multiplier, but it is the weightiest of the multipliers against the 387.5 million, giving us the new 410 million.  


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.  It is one -- in fact, that reflects the fact that the work is required to maintain the assets.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  And if I look at 1.2, which is the calculation in the adjusted capital additions revenue component, the asset-aging factor there is 8 -- is shown as 8.3 percent.  And if I look at table 2, which is immediately opposite it, which is Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 3, page 4 of 4, I see a very similar chart to the one we just looked at for the adjusted OM&A revenue requirement.   


Am I correct in my assumption that you went through the same process to arrive at the 8.27 number as you did to arrive at the 5.19 number?  


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  And if I could ask you a question about something that's on the next page, which is tab 13, schedule 4, page 2.  So just flipping over.  There is a paragraph that says, as noted in Exhibit A, and then the reference:  The development capital additions, non‑IP and SP ‑‑ sorry, non‑IPSP and IPSP in 2009 you assumed to be the two-year average of the total development capital in 2007 and 2008, namely $354 million.


And my question to you is:  How will that number be affected by the outcome of the IPSP, that 354 million number?  Is it going to be a simple average or will it be affected and impacted by the IPSP?


DR. PORAY:  The reason why we used the average was purely for illustrative purposes for this example, because we didn't have any other data.


As we noted in our direct evidence, when we come forward for the 2009 revenue requirement adjustment, we will actually take into consideration what has been approved in the IPSP.  So there will be information already available, and that information will be used to calculate the new capital additions to establish the new rate base and, therefore, to calculate the revenue requirement.  


So we won't be using an averaging number.  We'll be using actually what is in the IPSP.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


MR. RUPERT:  While Ms. Campbell is consulting there, if I could go back, Dr. Poray, about the asset-aging factors and what you might do leading up to the filing for 2009.


As I understand the asset-aging factors, those tables you just went through, what happens in the intervening years is irrelevant.  It is only the spending in the first year of your table versus the spending in the last year of your table which is totally determinative of what your asset-aging factor is.  So the pattern in those intervening years doesn't matter; right?


DR. PORAY:  Well, if we can turn to, say, for instance, table 2 in Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 2.


MR. RUPERT:  There are two table 2s.


DR. PORAY:  Let's take Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 2.


MR. RUPERT:  Page 4?


DR. PORAY:  Page 4, yes, table 2.  So the derivation of the residual amount is contingent on the derivation of the line 5, SD&O.


MR. RUPERT:  Right, but only the 201.7.


DR. PORAY:  Yes, but that is based on the 196.2, which is based on the 191.4, which is based on 186.2.  Because what you are doing in each year, you are adjusting ‑‑ let's say, for instance, we get to 2005 and we've got a value of 186.2.; okay?


To calculate the 2006 value, we take the 186.2, we strip out 0.5 percent due to cost savings and we inflate by 3.3.


MR. RUPERT:  I agree with you on that.  Having determined at 1.7 the line 6 which is ‑‑ row 6, excuse me, which is the key row, depends entirely upon what is your actual 2008 OM&A spending; right?


DR. PORAY:  It would be dependent on the value for 2008, yes.


MR. RUPERT:  So what happens in row 6, prior to the last year, which is 53.5, is completely irrelevant to the asset growth factor; right?


DR. PORAY:  Well, we don't use that information to derive the asset.


MR. RUPERT:  That's right.  So when you said a while ago that you might, in years, have actual experience, have some better information, I wasn't sure what you were saying.  I assume that what happens in 2007 is irrelevant to your asset-aging factor.  You look solely at 2008 actual spending compared to your inflated number and say that's the differential?


DR. PORAY:  Well, no.  What we would do is we might recalculate the 196.2 given ‑‑


MR. RUPERT:  Oh, that number would change?


DR. PORAY:  Yes.  That number would change, and, therefore, the 201.7 would change.  Therefore, the difference then would change.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay, I understand what you're saying.  Thank you.  Sorry.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Dr. Poray, I just have a handful of questions on implementation.


You talked about the steps that you would like to have taken once the Board rules, I think you hope in your favour, on the implementation of the IRM, and I just have some questions on that implementation.  That starts at Exhibit A, tab 13, schedule 1, page 26, and over onto 27 and the top of 28.  


I don't have any questions on what you initially want approved, because I think between your evidence and the prefiled evidence, I do understand that.


The first step in the implementation -- and this would be line 9 on page 27 -- the first step in the implementation process of the revenue requirement adjustment would be that in June 2008 you would submit to the OEB, through a written proceeding, the forecast GDPPI, as well as an ROE update.


My question to you is:  What form would the ROE update take?  In other words, if we assume that the Board awards you a certain percentage in this proceeding, would it be X plus an adjustment, or would Ms. McShane file a full update?


DR. PORAY:  I will ask my colleague here to answer that one.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


MR. INNIS:  The intention would be to start with the approved 2008's return equity that would be prepared by Ms. McShane as part of this hearing, and then adjust that for any differences relating to the long Canada rates and a 75 percent differential, similar to what we did in the -- back in the year 2000.  So we would have basically an automated adjustment as opposed to a total rethink of what an appropriate ROE would be.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Now, the next step is also in June 2008, and it says in the same proceeding -- this would happen through the same written proceeding.  You would submit capital investments identified in the OEB-approved IPSP to be used for adjusting the 2008 asset base, as well as the non‑development capital for 2009.


Now, is the non‑development capital the same as the new net capital of 391 million that we saw in the calculation we just referred to?


DR. PORAY:  The non‑development capital would be the capital pertaining to the projects that go in service in 2009.  So these would be ‑‑ oh, I'm sorry.


The non‑development capital would be the adjusted sustainment and operations capital, and I believe that there would be some other components added to that, as well.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I would just like to clarify that that would include all of the capital additions that you have talked about in your evidence previously?


DR. PORAY:  The non‑development capital pertains to the sustainment and operations, which is adjusted by the adjustment mechanism, and then whatever is deemed to go in service in 2009 would be included in that submission for inclusion in the rate base.


The development capital is the IPSP and the non‑IPSP, which would be section 92 and non‑section 92, which would be whatever information we have on assets which go into service in 2009, that would be part of that submission.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So could that include projects that have not been considered in this proceeding and that are not included in the IPSP?


DR. PORAY:  That is possible.  As I pointed out in my direct evidence, you could have projects where work begins ‑‑ or there are cash flows in 2009 and the project goes in service in 2009.  That would be included as part of the submission.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Just a handful more questions, and then everyone can possibly take the break that I know they're looking forward to.


By August 2008, you are to obtain approval ‑‑ I'm sorry, I should read this and make sure that I've got you at the right point on the page.  Line 16.  By August 2008 obtain approval from the OEB to – sorry, just finish that one - the GDPPI, the capital, the investment, quantities to be used for adjusting the 2009 revenue requirement.  


Now, would this include the approval of the ROE update?  


DR. PORAY:  Yes, it would.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  And I've got to ask you why you think that is achievable in that time frame.  Because we're talking a very compressed time frame there.  And what you're saying is, you will submit in June and you will have obtained approval by August.  And I'm just wondering whether you think that is a realistic timeline.  


DR. PORAY:  What we put forward here were some ideas that we had, in terms of how this could be -- how this could be implemented.  And we certainly are working towards a more streamlined approval process.  And we feel that this is not unreasonable.  However, we are willing to work with the Board and the intervenors to come forward with something that is, perhaps, more practical.  


So here the idea is to get some thoughts on paper, in terms of how this might look, and we are certainly open to suggestions in terms of how we could make this work.  But the whole focus is to try and streamline the process as much as possible.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Have you discussed -- there's a point here, at line 18:  

"In August 2008, the OEB requests all other transmitters to file their current or revised transmission revenue requirements and for IESO to provide transmission charge determinants that will be used to establish the 2009 uniform transmission rates." 

And then the next point is:  

"By September 2008, the transmitters and IESO have provided that information to the OEB."  


Have you discussed this timeline with the other transmitters and with IESO to determine whether that time frame is actually doable by them?  


DR. PORAY:  We haven't had any discussions with the transmitters.  However, we have begun our discussions with the IESO to look at the feasibility of this.  We haven't concluded those discussions yet.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  And I take it you haven't talked to the transmitters yet?  


DR. PORAY:  No, I said we haven't. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  I'm sorry, I didn't catch that part.  Thank you.  And you -- 


DR. PORAY:  If I may just add.  The other transmitters are aware of this, that this is going on.  So they would have seen this information, but we haven't specifically discussed it with them.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay, thank you.  Then the final step in this is in October 2008, Hydro One submits to the Board through a written proceeding a set of calculations showing the adjustments to establish that the 2009 transmission revenue requirements, and based on the information provided by the other transmitters and IESO to calculate the provincial transmission rates on behalf of all of the transmitters, and then you have approval taking place within 60 days of that submission.  


DR. PORAY:  That was what we suggested as a implementation step, yes.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  And can you give us any idea on the written process that you were thinking of, the sorts of submissions?  Are you thinking of -- the submissions that would be made, I assume, would be similar to the calculations that you have put in here, with supporting data?  Is that the type of written submission that you are thinking of?  


DR. PORAY:  Certainly we would.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Campbell.  


We will take our afternoon break now and we will resume at 3:10.  


--- Recess taken at 2:51 p.m. 


‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 3:18 p.m.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


I understand from Ms. Campbell that there has been some discussion about process for the remainder of the day.  So maybe we will handle it this way.  Who is proposing to begin cross‑examination, and do you have any issues regarding the process at this point?  Ms. Girvan.


MS. GIRVAN:  I think we have been discussing it, IGUA, VECC and CCC, and I think we're the only ones that have questions.  And AMPCO, sorry; big users.


Anyway, so we've been discussing that.  I think what we would like to do is we would all like to go back and review the transcript before we sort of move on, in terms of the actual specific proposals.  I think we're somewhat confused and think it might be useful, in terms of time to be able to do that.


Having said that, some of us, I think, are prepared to ask some questions regarding process, not specifically on the proposal itself, but how this is all supposed to work within the context of process.  


I think we just want to make sure we're not precluded from coming back if we ask some questions now; ask a few now, and if we could come back on Friday with some more substantive cross‑examination.


MS. NOWINA:  That would be a bit irregular, for you to come back with further questions.  I have no problem with one of you beginning your cross, and then completing your cross on Friday, that same person, or we could put everyone off until Friday.


I understand your desire to review the transcript.  I would like to do that, as well, but if you want to make use of the time, I think that would be the best way to do it.


MS. GIRVAN:  Just a second, while we...


MS. NOWINA:  Sure.


[Intervenors confer]


MR. RODGER:  Madam Chair, I can advise you for AMPCO's part we would prefer to wait until Friday.  I think one of the themes that came out from some of the helpful clarification that we would like to review on the transcript is that the whole approvals and the RRAM that was discussed seems to now be a lot less prescriptive than we interpreted it to be from the written evidence, and we would like to start fresh on Friday, if we could.


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Madam Chair, for what it's worth, I have hopefully about five minutes, and it may only be clarification to make sure I understand something, and that's it for me.  So I'm happy to do that now and get it over with, and just use that time for that brief issue.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.  Why don't we take a poll, then, and see everyone who wants to cross and who is willing to go today and how much time they will take, who would like to see to Friday and who would like to cross that time period, if possible.  Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. BUONAGURO:  My current estimate is probably a couple of hours.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry?


MR. BUONAGURO:  A couple of hours.


MS. NOWINA:  A couple of hours?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay.


MR. BUONAGURO:  It's likely to change because of developments, I guess we can call them.


MS. NOWINA:  And that won't be today.  All right.  Mr. Rodger, you were Friday?


MR. RODGER:  I estimate about 40 minutes, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  Anyone else besides, Ms. Girvan?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I can also advise that Mr. DeVellis has questions, but he couldn't be here today.  He is ill, but he has some questions on this topic.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeVellis, and he will be here on Friday, as well.


MR. MACINTOSH:  Energy Probe would probably have about 20 minutes, and on Friday, if possible.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Long.


MR. LONG:  We won't be around on Friday because of competing interests, so we will follow through in the transcript.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So you have no questions?


MR. LONG:  No questions.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Ms. Girvan?


MS. GIRVAN:  I think depending on what others cover off, probably 20 minutes, but it may well be less, and we will likely work with VECC to try to sort out the cross‑examination so we do not duplicate things.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Why don't we have Mr. Stephenson today, and then we can go on?  Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  The only suggestion I have, I'm anxious to keep the train moving to its ultimate destination.  I understand the problem with this evidence, but I'm wondering whether people would be prepared to deal with block B, the supply mix issue, this afternoon.


MS. NOWINA:  Well, Mr. Rogers it is almost 3:30.  We don't have that much time left.  So to start an entirely different topic while we are all still trying to get our heads around this one, I don't know about the rest of you, but I'm not that good at multi-tasking.  So, Mr. Stephenson.


MR. ROGERS:  Very well.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. STEPHENSON:

MR. STEPHENSON:  Mr. Poray, Richard Stephenson.  I'm counsel for the Power Workers' Union.  Good afternoon.  This is for you, and this relates to the asset-aging issue, Exhibit J, tab 5, schedule 14, the table there, attachment A.  You reviewed this in your evidence-in‑chief.  Have you got that, sir?


DR. PORAY:  I do, indeed.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I think I understand this, but I'm hoping that you can confirm for me my understanding.


If we look at the portion of the table in the middle, which is the transmission data from December 31, 2000, have you got that?


DR. PORAY:  Yes, I do.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And I'm looking at the column called "Cumulative Asset Percentage".  Do you see that?


DR. PORAY:  Yes, I do.


MR. STEPHENSON:  If we go down that column, about roughly a third of the way down, at some point you reach the number 50.85 percent.  Do you see that?


DR. PORAY:  Yes, I do.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Now, as I understand that, what that means is ‑‑ and if you go across to the right, it shows you 1975 and cumulative asset age of 25 percent ‑‑ 25 years for that percentage; correct?


DR. PORAY:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Now, as I understand that, that roughly gives me the median age.  If it was exactly 50 percent, it would give me the median age, which shows me that half of your assets, as of that date, were 25 years old or older, and half of them were newer than that; is that correct?


DR. PORAY:  That's generally correct, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Now, then if we go -- staying on that very same row, going over to the left-hand block, which is the December 31, 2005 data, and you will see there you've got a number on that same row of 49.98 percent?


DR. PORAY:  Yes, I do.


MR. STEPHENSON:  So it's almost exactly 50 percent.  In that block, it tells me the cumulative asset age is 30 years, and again the vintage is 1975.


As I understand it, that tells me, again, that that's essentially the median age of your assets as of December 31, 2005, correct, that half of them are 30 years old or older, and half of them are newer than that?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So do I understand correctly ‑‑ presumably, I take it for granted that between, in that five-year span between December of 2000 and December 2005, certain assets were retired, and there were certain assets that were added.  I take it that's a fair assumption?


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Notwithstanding those retirements and those additions, in five years' time your asset base got almost exactly five years older on average.


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So whatever you were doing in terms of replacements during that time frame, you made no progress whatsoever, in terms of keeping your asset sort of up to date.  In fact, you were ‑‑ if the goal was to maintain your average age of assets at the same age over time, you were not nearly replacing them quickly enough; is that fair?


DR. PORAY:  That is fair.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And do you know now whether your program for ‑‑ well, let's put it this way.  If we did another ‑- projecting forward to 2010, given the work plan that is projected, and I appreciate there's some uncertainty around that, but what is your average asset age going to look like as of December 31, 2010?  Is it going to be 35 years, is it going to be 30 years or is it going to be closer to 25 years?


DR. PORAY:  Well, I wouldn't want to speculate as to what the exact number would be, but our expectation is that the assets will continue to age, that we're not replacing them at a fast enough rate to reduce the average age of the assets.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And you're not even holding steady, so to speak.  Like, you're paddling up a river but you're not paddling fast enough and you're actually going backwards. 


DR. PORAY:  Well, in respect of the work that's being done, it's being done to manage the program of assets that need to be replaced and refurbished, as the need arises.  But overall, we're not reducing the age of the transmission infrastructure. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  In fact, it will be increasing, but perhaps not as quickly increasing as in the past.  


DR. PORAY:  Perhaps.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.  I appreciate that clarification.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson. 


We will then adjourn until 9:30 on Friday morning.  


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:29 p.m.
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